
Summons to Meeting

Tuesday 10 April 2018

Executive
Wednesday 18 April 2018, 10.00 am

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington
Membership:

Councillor Alan Smith (Chair) Councillor Mark Fryer (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Barbara Cannon Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Konrad Hansen Councillor Michael Heaslip
Councillor William Jefferson Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Gayle Roach on 01900 702502.

Agenda
1. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 6)

To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 21 March 2018.

2. Apologies for Absence  

3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Questions  
To answer questions from members of the public – submitted in writing or by 
electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 working days before the meeting.

5. Members' Announcements  

6. Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy  (Pages 7 - 90)

Page 1



7. Response to BEIS consultations on a geological disposal facility  (Pages 
91 - 112)

8. Extension of Memorandum of Agreement, Solway Coast AONB Partnership  
(Pages 113 - 142)

Corporate Director

Date of Next Meeting:

Wednesday 16 May 2018, 10.00 am
Allerdale House, Workington

Page 2



At a meeting of the Executive held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington 
on Wednesday 21 March 2018 at 2.00 pm

Members

Councillor Alan Smith (Chair) Councillor Mark Fryer (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Barbara Cannon Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Konrad Hansen Councillor Michael Heaslip
Councillor William Jefferson Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes
 

Staff Present

B Carlin, A FitzGerald, I Frost, N Hardy, C Holmes, K Kerrigan, G Roach, A Seekings, 
G Wilson and P Wood

400. Minutes of meeting Wednesday 21 February 2018 of Executive 

The minutes of the meeting held on 21 February 2018 were signed as a correct 
record.

401. Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

402. Questions 

None received.

403. Members' Announcements 

None received.

404. Corporate Business Plan 2018/19 

The subject of the decision

The Chief Executive submitted a report for members to approve the 2018/19 
Corporate Business Plan which set out the specific activity that would be 
undertaken over the next 12 months to work towards achieving the objectives in 
the Council Plan.

Councillor A Smith moved the recommendation. This was seconded by 
Councillor M Fryer. The recommendation was unanimously agreed.  

Alternative options considered

Not to approve the draft Plan or to make any other amendments.

The reason for the decision

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



Members approval of the Corporate Business Plan for 2018/19. The Plan was 
to be the proposed vehicle by which the Council would report progress against 
the Council Plan 2015-2019 commitments.

The decision

Resolved:

That the draft Corporate Business Plan 2018/19, as presented at Appendix A of 
the report, be approved. 

405. Setting Equality objectives 2018/19 

The subject of the decision

The Policy Manager (Corporate, Performance and Information) submitted a 
report asking members to agree a refreshed set of equality objectives in line 
with the Councils statutory requirements to have them in place under the Public 
Sector Equality Duty.

Councillor A Smith moved the recommendations in the report. This was 
seconded by Councillor M Fryer. The motion was unanimously agreed. 

Alternative options considered

Not to approve the draft equality objectives or to make any other amendments.

The reason for the decision

The Councils previous equality objectives were out of date and due for a refresh 
in line with new regulations.

The decision

Resolved:

That:

1. The equality objectives, as set out in paragraph 3.6 of the report, be 
agreed

2. The Councils equality objectives be reviewed again during 2018/19 
alongside the development of the new Council Plan to ensure that in 
future the equality objectives were fully aligned to the Council Plan and 
council planning cycle.

406. Allerdale Social Impact Investment Fund 

The subject of the decision

The Policy Manager (Economic Growth) submitted a report which sought 
members to agree the process for the allocation of funds from the Allerdale 

Page 4



Social Impact Investment Fund which included the creation of an Allerdale 
Loans Fund from April 2018 onwards.

Members welcomed the report which in their view demonstrated the Council’s 
commitment to supporting small businesses in the local area.  

Councillor M Fryer moved the recommendations in the report. This was 
seconded by Councillor A Smith. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

To continue to administer the fund as was.
To administer the loan scheme internally.
To use an accredited provider to manage the loans fund on the council’s behalf.

The reason for the decision

In April 2014 The Board of Sellafield Ltd agreed to allocate up to £1,000,000 per 
annum of funding for use by Allerdale Borough Council and Copeland Borough 
Council to support projects and initiatives that delivered social conditions for 
growth through Britain’s Energy Coast. 
The allocation of monies, straight from Sellafield from April 2017, must be in line 
with the objectives of the Sellafield Socio Economic Strategy and Energy Act, in 
addition to the Council’s own Council Plan priorities.
Members were asked to agree the process by which the Council allocated 
money from the Social Impact Investment Fund for 2018/19 onwards.

The decision

Resolved:

That:

1. Members agreed to the allocation of funds from the £500,000 per annum 
Social Impact Investment Fund, which was provided by funding from 
Sellafield Ltd annually along the lines outlined below:

 A loans fund of £500,000 was proposed. Initially, this would be built up 
by contributions over 2 years of £250,000 - 2018/19 and 2019/20 - 
subject to funding provided annually by Sellafield. This would be topped 
up annually thereafter by up to £250,000, until external funding ceased, 
i.e. Sellafield Board decided not to award £500,000 each to the Council 
and Copeland Borough Council.

 £100,000 to support businesses up to three years of age with capital 
grants of up to £10,000 with decisions delegated to the Head of Strategy, 
Policy and Performance in consultation with the Leader and Portfolio 
Holder for Economic Growth, subject to funding provided annually by 
Sellafield.

 £150,000 to support the delivery of projects that support the delivery of 
the Council’s Business Growth Strategy with decisions delegated to the 
Corporate Director in consultation with the Leader and Portfolio Holder 
for Economic Growth subject to funding provided annually by Sellafield.

Page 5



2. Members agreed to enter into a Legal Agreement with Enterprise 
Answers to administer the Loans Fund on behalf of Allerdale Borough 
Council.

3. The finalisation of the Legal Agreement with Enterprise Answers be 
delegated to the Head of Governance and the Head of Strategy, Policy 
and Performance in consultation with the Leader of the Council and the 
Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth.

407. Cumbria Healthy Weight Declaration 

The subject of the decision

The Head of Housing and Health submitted a report which sought members’ 
approval to commit to signing up to a Cumbria Healthy Weight Declaration.

The Healthy Weight Declaration was a statement of intent for a local authority to 
put obesity reduction and promotion of healthy options at the heart of its policies 
and activities.

Councillor C McCarron-Holmes moved the recommendations in the report. This 
was seconded by Councillor M Fryer. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

Not to sign up to the Cumbria Healthy Weight Declaration.

The reason for the decision

To demonstrate the council’s commitment to health, and to work with the other 
local authorities and council partners to improve healthy weight within local 
communities thereby improving lives.

The decision

Resolved:

That:

1. The signing up to the Cumbria Healthy Weight Declaration be agreed
2. The Leader of the Council and Chief Executive sign on behalf of 

Allerdale Borough Council.

The meeting closed at 2.40 pm

Page 6



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 18 April 2018

Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 

The Reason for the Decision To provide Executive with the draft 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy. The policy is being revised 
following the introduction of new powers 
through the Housing and Planning Act 
2017. A Civil Penalty Policy has been 
developed to set out how the Council is 
planning to use Civil Penalties.

Summary of options considered Options for the adoption of additional 
legislation are set out in the report.

Recommendations 1. Executive is asked to approve the 
Private Sector Housing 
Enforcement Policy and Civil 
Penalty Policy.

2. That the Head of Housing and 
Health be given delegated 
authority to authorise officers to 
exercise the enforcement powers 
reserved by the legislative 
changes in the Private Sector 
Housing Enforcement Policy.

3. That the Head of Housing and 
Health be given delegated 
authority to make minor 
amendments to the Housing 
Enforcement Policy, once the 
regulations relating to houses in 
multiple occupation have been 
enacted.

Financial /  Resource Implications Financial and resource implications 
relating to the adoption of this policy are 
set out in the report.

Legal / Governance Implications Legal implications relating to the 
adoption of this policy are set out in the 
report.

Community Safety Implications The adoption of additional enforcement 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



powers as proposed would give the 
Council further tools with which to 
address poor housing standards and 
reduce associated crime and anti-social 
behaviour.

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

There are no additional risk management 
implications arising from adopting this 
policy.

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

The updated policy will assist officers in 
seeking to improve housing conditions. 
This will have a beneficial impact in 
improving the quality of life for many 
vulnerable people across the Borough.

Wards Affected All wards.

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

The policy supports the drive to improve 
health and wellbeing, tackle inequality 
and enhance our towns.

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes

Lead Officer Sarah McGowan
Environmental Health Officer 

Emma Bundock
Private Sector Housing Manager
01900 702663
emma.bundock@allerdale.gov.uk 

Report Implications

Community Safety Y Financial Y
Legal Y Partnership N
Social Inclusion Y Asset Management N
Equality Duty Y Health and Safety N
Employment (internal) Y Employment 

(external to the Council)
N

Background Papers
Draft Allerdale Borough Council Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2018
Draft Private Sector Housing Civil Penalty Policy 2018
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy Consultation – Summary of Responses

Page 8

mailto:emma.bundock@allerdale.gov.uk


1.0 Introduction

1.1 This report is to provide Executive with a general update on work to revise the 
existing Private Sector Housing (PSH) Enforcement Policy.

1.2 The PSH Enforcement Policy sets out the way in which the Council intends to        
secure effective compliance with legislation to ensure that all private sector 
housing within the Borough is healthy, well managed and safe.

1.3 The Council’s existing PSH Enforcement Policy was adopted in 2004 and 
does not reflect current legislation, which has granted officers additional 
enforcement powers in relation to the private rented sector.

1.4 The Council has a statutory duty and powers to deal with poor housing 
conditions. Where required, the new enforcement powers will be used and the 
new policy will provide a clear framework in which to do this.

1.5 In conjunction with this, we are taking the opportunity to review our 
procedures in order to allow officers to concentrate on more proactive 
enforcement work.

1.6 We also plan to make greater use of IT platforms such as the Allerdale 
Borough Council website and the My Allerdale App to create a more 
streamlined customer experience.

2.0 The Private Rented Sector in Allerdale

2.1 Whilst the size of the private rented sector in Allerdale is below the national 
average, it has grown in the last decade. At the time of the 2001 census there 
were 3,900 households living in the private rented sector in Allerdale (9.8% of 
housing stock), by 2011 the census showed that this had risen to 4,850 
(11.4%) and most recently the Stock Condition Survey 2016 has estimated 
that this sector is now at 16%.

2.2 At present, private sector landlords are not required to register their tenanted 
properties with the local authority. This makes it difficult to get a true picture of 
the distribution of privately rented properties and also the number of landlords 
operating in Allerdale.

2.3 The Housing Study 2016 identified that that the highest percentage (15.3%) of 
private rented dwellings is in the North Lakes Strategic Housing Market Area 
(Keswick, Derwent Valley, Crummock and Boltons) followed by Cockermouth 
14% and Wigton 11.4%.  

Page 9



2.4 The table below taken from the Housing Study 2016 shows the tenure profile 
by Strategic Housing Market Area 

2.5 Other data we hold around the location of private rented properties is from the 
information obtained from Tenancy Deposit Schemes. The Housing and
Planning Act 2016 made amendments to the Housing Act 2004 to enable the 
sharing of certain data held by three Tenancy Deposit Protection Schemes on 
private rented properties, landlords and managing agents with local housing 
authorities in England.

2.6 This data shows that private rented properties are distributed as follows:

Postcode Number of 
private rented 

properties

Area

CA5/7 376 Aspatria, Wigton, Silloth and surrounding 
villages (Waverton, Fletchertown, Mealsgate, 
Thursby, Welton, Kirkbampton).

CA12 154 Keswick, Bassenthwaite, Braithwaite, 
Borrowdale, Threlkeld

CA13 616 Cockermouth, Brigham, Broughton, Lorton, 
Greysouthen, Eaglesfield, Tallentire, Bridekirk

CA14 562 Workington, Harrington, Clifton
CA15 214 Maryport, Flimby, Dearham, Crosby

2.7 Tackling health and safety hazards in homes is an important issue both in 
terms of the quality of housing stock in Allerdale but also in terms of the 
contribution this makes to health and well-being.

 
2.8 The Allerdale Housing Stock Condition Survey 2016 found that private rented 

stock (21%) has relatively more Category 1 Hazards than owner occupation 
9.7%.  It also found that rates of non-decency for private rented stock (29.2%) 

Page 10



is higher than for owner occupied (20.3%). Keswick and North Allerdale were 
found to have the highest proportion of properties with Category one hazards 
and levels of non-decency. 

3.0 Overview of legislation to be adopted – Housing and Planning Act 2016

3.1 Civil Penalties

3.1.1 The Housing and Planning Act 2016 introduced a number of amendments to 
the Housing Act 2004. Since 6 April 2017, local housing authorities have had 
the power to impose civil penalties of up to £30,000, as an alternative to 
prosecution for the following offences under the Housing Act 2004 (as 
amended):

a) Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice (section 30);
b) Offences in relation to licensing of HMOs (section 72);
c) Offences in relation to licensing of houses under Part 3 of the Act 

(section 95);
d) Offences of contravention of an overcrowding notice (section 139);
e) Failure to comply with management regulations in respect of HMOs 

(section 234);

3.1.2 The same criminal standard of proof is required for a civil penalty as for a 
criminal prosecution. This means that before a civil penalty can be imposed, 
the Council must be satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that the landlord 
committed the offence(s) and that if the matter were to be prosecuted in the 
magistrates’ court, there would be a realistic prospect of conviction.

3.1.3 We are proposing to adopt the use of civil penalties as we believe that it will 
provide the Council with a more cost-effective and proportionate alternative to 
prosecution for specified housing offences, whilst retaining the option to 
prosecute for the most serious housing offences.

3.1.4 The use of civil penalties will not only prevent unscrupulous and irresponsible 
landlords from profiting from letting unsafe properties, but it will also 
demonstrate the Council’s commitment to ensuring that it is offenders (rather 
than responsible landlords or the local council tax payers) who pay for the 
cost of housing enforcement.

3.1.5 A statutory framework for the implementation and use of civil penalties by 
local housing authorities has been published by the Department of 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG). This states that local housing 
authorities are expected to develop and document their own procedure on 
when to prosecute and when to impose a civil penalty.

3.1.6 Local housing authorities are also required to document their own policy on 
determining the appropriate level of civil penalty to be imposed.

3.1.7 As a result of this, we have developed a PSH Civil Penalties Policy which has 
been designed to ensure transparency, consistency and fairness in how and 

Page 11



when civil penalties are imposed. This policy has taken into account statutory 
guidance and should be read in conjunction with the Council’s PSH 
Enforcement Policy.

3.1.8 Those persons upon whom a notice of civil penalties is served can appeal to 
the First Tier Property Tribunal both in respect of the decision to issue any 
fixed penalty and in respect of the amount imposed. The Tribunal has the 
power to confirm, vary (increase or reduce) or cancel the civil penalty imposed 
by the local housing authority. It is therefore important that the Council 
produces a robust policy in accordance with the DCLG Guidance and 
legislative provisions.

3.1.9 The policy includes a methodology to be used as a guide by enforcement 
officers to set the civil penalty at an appropriate level, based upon the 
individual circumstances of the case. This methodology will be used to 
provide transparency and aid consistency in the enforcement process. 

3.1.10 A number of factors will be taken into consideration when setting the level of 
fine. These are:
Severity of the offence;
a) Culpability and track record of the offender;
b) The level of harm caused to the tenant;
c) Punishment of the offender;
d) Deterring the offender from repeating the offence;
e) Deterring others from committing similar offences;
f) Removing any financial benefit the offender may have obtained because 

of committing the offence.

3.1.11 Income received from a civil penalty can be retained by the local housing 
authority, provided it is used solely to further the local authority’s statutory 
function in relation to their enforcement activities covering the private rented 
sector.

3.1.12 It is likely that there will be a significant number of appeals against any civil 
penalties imposed. Additional legal costs may be incurred as part of the 
Council being the respondent to any appeals against the issued civil 
penalties.

3.1.13 We believe civil penalties will act as a powerful deterrent for those landlords 
who might otherwise have considered that the financial benefits of non-
compliance outweighed the risk of enforcement action against them. They 
enable the Council to penalise the worst landlords by direct economic 
sanctions. We believe that this will lead to greater levels of compliance and 
improved housing standards across the Borough.

3.2 Rent Repayment Orders

3.2.1 A rent repayment order is an order made by the First Tier Tribunal requiring a 
landlord to repay a specified amount of rent.

Page 12



3.2.2 The Housing Act 2004 introduced rent repayment orders specifically in 
relation to offences regarding the licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation 
(HMOs).

3.2.3 The Housing and Planning Act 2016 has extended this to cover a much wider 
range of offences including:

a) Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice;
b) Failure to comply with a Prohibition Order;
c) Offences in relation to licensing of HMOs;
d) Illegal eviction or harassment of the occupiers;
e) Breach of a Banning Order.

3.2.4 If rent was paid through Housing Benefit or through the housing element of 
Universal Credit, then the rent must be repaid to the local housing authority. If 
the rent was paid partially by the tenant with the remainder paid through 
Housing Benefit/Universal Credit, then the rent should be repaid on an 
equivalent basis. 

3.2.5 The Government has made it clear that local housing authorities must always 
consider a rent repayment order after a civil penalty has been successfully 
imposed.

3.3 Banning Orders

3.3.1 A Banning Order is an order made by the First Tier Property Tribunal, banning 
a person from letting a house in England and/or engaging in English letting 
agency or property management work.

3.3.2 A local authority in England may apply for a banning order against a person 
who has been convicted of a banning order offence.  There are 41 different 
banning order offences under 14 different statutes. Those under the Housing 
Act 2004 include failing to comply with an improvement notice or prohibition 
order, offences relating to the licensing and management of HMOs and the 
contravention of an overcrowding notice.

3.3.3 The length of a banning order must be at least 12 months. There is no upper 
limit on the potential length of a banning order.

3.3.4 The local authority can impose a civil penalty of up to £30,000 for a breach of 
a banning order.

3.3.5  These regulations came into force on 6 April 2018.

3.4 Rogue Landlord Database

3.4.1 A landlords details will be entered onto the database if they receive a banning 
order, if they are convicted of a banning order offence or if they receive two or 
more civil penalties over a 12 month period.

Page 13



3.4.2 The local housing authority is responsible for maintaining the content of the 
database.

3.4.3  The national rogue landlord database was launched on 6th April 2018.

4.0 Other Legislation to be adopted.

4.1 The Redress Scheme for Lettings Agency Work (Requirement to belong 
to a scheme etc.) (England) Order 2014

4.1.1 This order requires a person who engages in property management work to 
be a member of a redress scheme for dealing with complaints in connection 
with that work.

4.1.2 Where the local authority is satisfied on the balance of probabilities that a 
person has failed to belong to a redress scheme, the authority may serve 
notice to require the person to pay a financial penalty.

4.1.3 The local authority has discretion to determine the amount of the fine, up to a 
maximum of £5000.

4.1.4 The legislation allows for appeals to the First Tier Property Tribunal against 
the imposition of a fine.

4.2 Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Properties) Regulations 2015

4.2.1 These regulations make it unlawful for landlords to grant a new tenancy or 
renew an existing tenancy of a private rented property with an energy 
performance certificate (EPC) rating of F or G from 1 April 2018.

4.2.2 From 1 April 2020, it will be unlawful to let any domestic private rented 
property with an EPC rating of F or G.

4.2.3 Where a property cannot be improved to EPC rating of E, the landlord will 
need to take steps to register an exemption on the national Private Rented 
Sector Exemptions Register.

4.2.4 Landlords who do not comply with the regulations face a fine of up to £5000. 
Local authorities have discretion to determine the level of fines in each case.

4.2.5 The legislation allows for appeals to the First Tier Property Tribunal against 
the imposition of a fine.

4.3 Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015

4.3.1 Under this legislation, the Council may take enforcement action where there is 
not at least one smoke alarm on each storey of a rented property and/or 
where there is no carbon monoxide alarm in any room used as living 
accommodation where solid fuel is used.

Page 14



4.3.2 The landlord must make sure the alarms are in working order at the start of 
each new tenancy.

4.3.3 Landlords who do not comply with the regulations face a fine of up to £5000. 
Local authorities have discretion to determine the level of fine.

4.3.4 Local authorities are required to publish a statement of principles which they 
will follow when determining the amount of a penalty charge.

4.3.5 The legislation allows for appeals to the First Tier Property Tribunal against 
the imposition of a fine.

4.4 Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004 – Mandatory Licensing of Houses in 
Multiple Occupation (HMOs)

4.4.1 The Government has advised that it intends to proceed with secondary 
legislation to increase the extent of licensing of HMOs. Currently mandatory 
licensing applies to HMOs of three or more storeys, occupied by five or more 
people, comprising two or more households. From 1 October 2018, the three 
storey requirement will be dropped, so that any HMO occupied by five or more 
people, comprising two or more households will require a licence.

4.4.2 There are currently 16 licensed HMOs in Allerdale. The proposed extension 
will at least double this however we cannot be certain of exact numbers at this 
time.

4.4.3 There will need to be minor amendments to the PSH Enforcement Policy once 
these regulations have been enacted. Therefore, Executive are asked to 
delegate approval to the Head of Housing and Health to make these 
amendments.

5.0 Consultation

5.1 We have undertaken a period of online consultation with internal and external 
partners to obtain the views of a wide range of stakeholders

5.2 We have hosted a Landlord Forum event to brief on the Council’s proposals.

5.3 A summary of consultation reponses can be found in the background papers 
attached to this report.

6.0 Finance/Resource Implications

6.1 The Housing and Planning Act 2016 specifies that all of the income that a 
local authority receives from the imposition of civil penalties and the recovery 
of Housing Benefit through Rent Repayment Orders can be retained by the 
local authority to be spent on private sector housing enforcement work.

Page 15



6.2 However, any income that a local authority receives from civil penalties and 
rent repayment orders but fails to spend, must be paid into the Government’s 
Consolidated Fund.

6.3 As previously mentioned, a right of appeal exists against any penalty 
imposed. Parties to an appeal are normally expected to bear their own costs 
and in most cases, it is unlikely that the Council will be able to recover any 
costs in relation to such appeals.

6.4 It is anticipated that enforcement will be undertaken utilising existing staff 
resources. In the event that the scale of enforcement activity necessitates 
additional staffing resources, these costs can be met from income generated 
through the imposition of civil penalties.

6.5 The table below provides an insight into the number of complaints the council 
has received over the years regarding house conditions in the private rented 
sector.  

6.6 The number of complaints received by the Housing and Health team has 
decreased over the years. This may be a result of tenants not wishing to 
complain due to the fear of being evicted but is also possibly as a result of 
past proactive inspections of HMOs, which are associated with poorer living 
conditions. The majority of the complaints we investigate are in Workington 
and Maryport which is interesting as these areas have the lowest percentage 
of private rented properties. 

6.7 At present the team only provide a reactive service, responding to complaints 
received directly from tenants. We feel that the implementation of a proactive 
inspection programme needs to happen in order to more effectively address 
some of the worst private sector housing conditions. This may result in more 
enforcement activity and possible use of Civil Penalties. Whilst the numbers 
will not be huge, it is hoped that it will send the appropriate message to other 
landlords who fail to comply with the law.

Financial Year Number of complaints 
received

2012/13 73
2013/14 56
2014/15 37
2015/16 58
2016/17 18
2017/18 24

Page 16



6.8 With regards to Housing Act enforcement action taken by the team, the table 
below shows the level of activity over the years.

Year Inspections HAN IN Prohibition
2012/13 118 37 0 4
2013/14 97 24 7 0
2014/15 146 104 18 1
2015/16 86 47 3 1
2016/17 49 17 3 0
2017/18 55 26 2 0

6.9 For the majority of cases a Hazard Awareness Notice (HAN) is served. This 
sets out what work the landlord is required to undertake to remove / reduce 
hazards to an acceptable level. If a landlord fails to undertake works within a 
specified time period an Improvement Notice (IN) will be served. 

6.10 The full impact of the legislative changes on staffing resource is unknown at 
this stage and will be monitored closely over the coming months. Proactive 
work to identify HMOs falling under the new mandatory licensing scheme will 
need to commence shortly to ensure such properties are licensed before 
October 2018.

 6.11 An increase in proactive inspection and subsequent enforcement activity is 
likely to result in a corresponding increase in the number of cases requiring 
legal advice and assistance. This may put additional pressure on existing 
staffing resources within the Council’s Legal team.

7.0 Legal Implications and Risks

7.1 The relevant legislation is shown in the Policies.

7.2 Failure to have an up to date PSH Enforcement Policy is likely to attract 
criticism and have an adverse effect on the reputation of the Council.

8.0 Recommendations

8.1 Executive is asked to approve the Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 
and Private Sector Housing Civil Penalty Policy.

8.2 That the Head of Housing and Health be given delegated authority to 
authorise officers to exercise the enforcement powers reserved by the 
legislative changes in the Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy.

8.3 That the Head of Housing and Health be given delegated authority to make 
minor amendments to the Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy, once 
the regulations relating to houses in multiple occupation have been enacted.

Sarah McGowan Emma Bundock
Environmental Health Officer Private Sector Housing Manager

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



1 of 30

Private Sector Housing
Enforcement Policy

April 2018

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit”
Page 19



2 of 30

Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy

Contents

Introduction 3

Summary of enforcement policy 4

Principles of good enforcement 4

Working in partnership 6

Powers of entry 6

What is expected of tenants? 7

What types of enforcement action will the Council use? 7

How will the Council choose which type of enforcement action to take? 14

Level to which hazards are to be improved 15

Charging for enforcement activity 15

Land charges 15

Requesting Information 15

Additional enforcement powers 16

Tenure 17

Housing licensing 18

Empty Homes 20

Other aspects of private sector housing work 21

Complaints 22

Monitoring and review 22

Appendix 1 – Housing disrepair procedure 24

Appendix 2 - Calculating Fixed Penalty Charges - The Smoke and                        26           
Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015

Page 20



3 of 30

Introduction

The Allerdale Housing Strategy 2016-2021 documents those steps that Allerdale 
Borough Council intends to take in order to realise its vision for private sector 
housing: “Improving Housing – Improving Lives”. The aim of the Private Sector 
Housing team is to improve the standard of private sector housing through inspecting 
properties, processing licence applications, bringing empty properties back into use, 
providing advice to owners and landlords, signposting to grant assistance, 
encouraging and promoting good practice, investigating possible offences and, 
where appropriate, taking enforcement action.

A key factor which will enable the Council to achieve this lies in its ability to regulate 
conditions within the private rented sector. Whilst the size of this sector in Allerdale is 
below the national average, it has grown in the last decade. At the time of the 2001 
census there were 3,900 households living in the private rented sector in Allerdale 
(9.8% of housing stock), by 2011 the census showed that this had risen to 4,850 
households (11.4%) and most recently the Stock Condition Survey 2016 has 
estimated that this sector now equates for 16% of housing within the borough. 

We expect landlords to comply with the law and proactively manage their properties 
to ensure that they provide a safe environment for any potential occupier and their 
visitors. Where individuals or companies are failing in their responsibilities and 
duties, the Council will take enforcement action that will achieve measurable 
improvements to housing standards.

The Council will provide advice and guidance to assist landlords in complying with 
their legal requirements. The Council will seek to help with opportunities for landlords 
to develop their knowledge and understanding, which should reduce the risk of 
enforcement action being taken. The Council will provide this support through regular 
newsletters, landlord forums and landlord training sessions.

Although our work is primarily focused upon the private rented sector, there are 
circumstances in which we deal with complaints relating to properties let by 
Registered Providers and owner occupied properties.

Page 21



4 of 30

Summary of the Enforcement Policy

The aim of this policy is to set out clearly the way in which the Council intends to 
secure effective compliance with legislation. It is intended to provide an overview of 
the principles and processes that will apply when officers decide whether to take 
enforcement action with respect to any given case. It sets out what owners, 
landlords, agents and tenants can expect from officers within the Private Sector 
Housing Team.

Our objectives are to ensure that:

 Private tenants and tenants of Registered Providers live in homes that are 
free of unacceptable hazards;

 All Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) are safe, well managed and all 
relevant Management Regulations are adhered to;

 All licensable Houses in Multiple Occupation are licensed and all licensing 
conditions are met;

 Private housing is not left empty for an unreasonable amount of time and/or 
becomes a nuisance to neighbouring properties;

 Privately owned property does not present a statutory nuisance to other land 
owners and does not directly or indirectly present an unacceptable risk to 
public health, safety or the environment; and

 The Council meets its statutory obligations in relation to private housing.

Where enquiries are beyond the remit of the Private Sector Housing Team, advice 
and signposting will be offered. Any areas that are not included within this policy will 
be determined on a case-by-case basis, having regard to the relevant legislation and 
available guidance.

Principles of Good Enforcement

This policy has been developed in line with the principles of good enforcement set 
out in the Regulators’ Compliance Code and the Enforcement Concordat.

The Private Sector Housing Team will enforce the law efficiently and effectively 
without imposing unnecessary burdens on responsible owners and occupiers. In 
doing so, it will have regard to the role of inspections, compliance visits, advice and 
guidance, and the principles underpinning enforcement activity.

 Benefits to the Local Economy – Allerdale Borough Council aims to create 
areas where people want to live, bring up their children and work. Maintaining 
healthy housing and attractive neighbourhoods will benefit the local economy.

Page 22



5 of 30

 Property Inspections and Compliance Visits – The Private Sector Housing 
Team will undertake proactive property inspections, based on risk and 
intelligence, and ensure that its resources are targeted at the worst properties 
first. Officers will target empty properties in order to improve neighbourhoods 
and increase the supply of housing. We will respond to residents’ complaints 
about substandard, unsafe and problematic private housing and adopt an 
escalating regulatory approach to enforcement.

 Advice and Guidance – The Council will provide general information, advice 
and guidance to make it easier for landlords and agents to understand and 
meet their responsibilities. This will normally be provided through the 
Council’s website: www.allerdale.gov.uk. The Council will also provide support 
through regular newsletters, landlord forums, the provision of landlord training 
sessions and the promotion of the Cumbria Landlord Accreditation Scheme 
(CLAS).

Principles underpinning Enforcement Action

The Council’s Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy is based on the 
following principles:

 Openness – We will provide clear information in plain English about the 
rules and regulations that we have a duty to enforce. We will discuss these 
and aim to explain straightforwardly how legislation can be complied with. 
Officers will clearly distinguish between legal requirements and 
recommendations, both in terms of their own work, and what is expected 
of stakeholders.

 Proportionality – Enforcement action will be proportionate and reflect the 
nature, scale and seriousness of any breach or non-compliance.

 Fairness and objectivity – Enforcement action will be based on the 
individual circumstances of the case, taking all available facts into account. 
Officers will carry out investigations with a balanced and open mind.

 Transparency – Enforcement action will be undertaken in accordance 
with clearly defined policies and procedures that are readily available. All 
communications will be easy to understand, with clear reasons being given 
for any enforcement action taken.

 Consistency – Whilst the team will apply judgement and discretion to 
individual circumstances, we will have clear procedures in place to ensure 
the approach to enforcement is consistent throughout the team. We will 
work with other regulatory agencies and share and develop good practice.

Page 23

http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/


6 of 30

 Accountability – We will provide you with information on how you can 
make complaints or appeal against the enforcement action that we take.

Working in Partnership

Cases will often arise where the Private Sector Housing team and another partner 
organisation both have or share an enforcement role. We will liaise with that body to 
ensure effective co-ordination, to avoid inconsistencies and to ensure that 
enforcement action is appropriate to the circumstances of the incident. Where it is 
appropriate, the team shall share and receive information with organisations 
including, but not limited to:

 Police

 Fire Service

 Adult Social Care

 HMRC

 Revenues and Benefits

 Health Service

Regard will always be had to the requirement of the Data Protection Act 1998 (the 
General Data Protection Regulation as of 25 May 2018).

Powers of Entry

Where a complaint of housing disrepair is received and an inspection is required, a 
notice of entry is required to be served under section 239 of the Housing Act 2004. 
This informs all relevant interested parties of the Council’s intended inspection. 

Before entering any premises in exercise of their powers, the authorised officer must 
have given at least 24 hours notice of their intention to do so to both the owner of the 
premises (if known) and the occupier (if any). The exception to this is where the 
premises need to be entered for the purposes of ascertaining whether an offence 
has been committed under section 72, section 95 or section 234(3) of The Act.

If the complaint is of an urgent nature and the Council intends to use its emergency 
powers, this will negate the need for the service of a section 239 notice.

Where the Council is unable to gain access using a notice of entry, or such notice 
would defeat the object of entry, the Council are able to apply to the Magistrates 
Court for a warrant to enter.

Page 24



7 of 30

What is expected of tenants?

Before considering taking any action in respect of a tenanted property the tenant(s) 
will normally be required to contact their landlord about the problem first. This applies 
to all tenants. Landlords can only carry out their obligations under the legislation 
once they have been made aware of the problem. Tenants will be offered advice on 
how to write to their landlord detailing their complaint. Standard letter templates will 
be provided as required and will be available on the Council’s website.

Situations where a service to tenants is not provided

 Where the tenant(s) unreasonably refuse access to the landlord, managing 
agent or landlord’s contractor, to arrange or carry out works;

 Where the tenant(s) have, in the opinion of the Council, clearly caused the 
damage to the property that they are complaining about, and there are no 
other items of disrepair;

 Where the tenant(s) have been aggressive, threatening, verbally or physically 
abusive towards Officers;

 Where there is found to be no justification for the complaint on visiting the 
property;

 Where the service has determined that the complaint is vexatious.

What types of enforcement action will the Council use?

In ensuring that the main objective of enforcement action is achieved, the Council 
will consider all appropriate enforcement actions available to it. Appropriate 
enforcement action that can be taken includes, but is not limited to:

 Written warnings;

 Statutory notices or orders under part 1 of the Housing Act 2004 and other 
relevant legislation;

 Works in default;

 Revoking or varying licences;

 Civil penalty notice;

 Rent repayment orders;

 Simple cautions;

 Criminal proceedings (e.g. prosecution);

Page 25



8 of 30

 Interim or final management orders;

 Banning Orders;

 Selective and/or Additional Licensing;

 Clearance Areas.

One or more of the above actions may be taken simultaneously depending on the 
circumstances of the case.

Legislation

The Housing Act 2004, (“the Act”), together with Regulations made under it, 
prescribes the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) as the means by 
which local authorities assess housing conditions and decide on action to deal with 
poor housing. It is an evidence based risk assessment system, which looks at the 
likely effect of housing conditions on the health of occupiers. 29 potential hazards 
are assessed and scored for their severity. Any defect in a property may give rise to 
one or more of these hazards.

The score resulting from an assessment will place the hazard in a hazard banding 
between A and J. Hazards in bands A to C are classed as Category 1 hazards and 
those in bands D to J are classed as Category 2 hazards. The Council must take 
appropriate action in respect of a Category 1 hazard and may do so in respect of a 
Category 2 hazard.

For the purposes of assessing the hazard, it is assumed that the dwelling is occupied 
by the class of occupier who is must vulnerable to that hazard, as determined by the 
HHSRS Operating Guidance. However, in determining the most appropriate course 
of action to take, regard is had to the current and likely occupiers and visitors, the 
views of the occupiers and whether multiple hazards are present.

Enforcement Action

It is for the Council to determine what the most appropriate course of action is in 
relation to a hazard. Consideration is given to all relevant factors of the case, to 
published guidance from central government and professional organisations, and to 
the views of owners and tenants.

The forms of appropriate enforcement action set out in the Housing Act 2004 are as 
follows:

Hazard Awareness Notice (HAN)

 Hazard Awareness Notice relating to Category 1 Hazards; section 28

 Hazard Awareness Notice relating to Category 2 Hazards; section 29

Page 26



9 of 30

A Hazard Awareness Notice is used where a more serious form of action is not 
considered appropriate. It does however act as a formal way of drawing attention to 
the need for remedial action. The notice is not registered as a land charge and there 
is no appeal procedure.

Improvement Notice (IN)

 Improvement Notice relating to Category 1 hazards; section 11

 Improvement Notice relating to Category 2 hazards; section 12

An Improvement Notice requires the specified remedial works to be carried out within 
a timescale set out in the notice. This must give the person on whom the notice is 
served a reasonable opportunity to do the work. The notice cannot require work to 
start earlier than 28 days after the service of the notice. There is a 21 day appeal 
period.

Prohibition Order (PO)

 Prohibition Order relating to Category 1 Hazards; section 20

 Prohibition Order relating to Category 2 Hazards; section 21

A Prohibition Order may prohibit the occupation or use for a specified purpose of part 
or all of the premises. A Prohibition Order may be appropriate where serious hazards 
exist, but remedial action is impossible or impractical. It may also limit the use of part 
or all of the premises by specific groups of people or to a specified number of 
people. Normally, a prohibition order becomes operative 28 days after service.

Suspension of notices

Improvement Notices or Prohibition Orders may be suspended where action can be 
postponed for a specific time or until a specified event, for example where there is a 
change in occupation of a property.

Emergency Remedial Action; section 40

The Council has the discretion to take emergency remedial action against Category 
1 hazards which present an imminent risk of serious harm to the occupier. The 
action will consist of whatever remedial action the Council considers necessary to 
remove an imminent risk of serious harm.

The Council must serve a notice of emergency remedial action within 7 days of 
taking action. The notice must specify the nature of the hazard, the deficiency giving 
rise to the hazard and the date when the action was or is to be started. The notice 
must also contain information about the right to appeal.

Page 27



10 of 30

Emergency Prohibition Order; section 43

The Council has the discretion to make an emergency prohibition order in respect of 
category 1 hazards which present an imminent risk of serious harm to the occupiers. 
The order may prohibit the use of all or any part of a premise with immediate effect. 
The order must specify the nature of the hazard and any remedial action which 
would result in the order being revoked. The order must also contain information 
about the right to appeal.

Demolition Orders to deal with premises affected by Category 1 hazards.

Demolition Orders are available under Part 9 of the Housing Act 1985 as amended, 
as a possible response to a Category 1 hazard. A demolition order requires the 
property to be vacated within a specified time and subsequently demolished. It is a 
criminal offence to allow a premise to be occupied once a demolition order has come 
into effect. Should the building not be demolished, the Council can demolish it and 
recharge the person upon whom the notice was served.

Clearance Areas to deal with premises affected by Category 1 hazards

A clearance area is an area to be cleared of all buildings. A clearance area under 
Part 9 of the Housing Act 1985 can be declared if the Council is satisfied that each of 
the residential buildings in the area contains one or more Category 1 hazards (or that 
the buildings are dangerous or harmful to the health or safety of the occupiers as a 
result of their bad arrangement or the narrowness or bad arrangement of the streets) 
and any other buildings in the area are dangerous or harmful to the inhabitants. The 
Council is required to consult on the declaration of a clearance area and publish its 
intentions.

Rights of Appeal

There is a right of appeal against most notices, orders or decisions made by the 
Council. Where there is an appeal, the appropriate authority may confirm, quash, 
vary or suspend any notice, order or decision.

Vacated Properties with Statutory Notice

In cases where properties are subject to statutory notice and the property is 
subsequently vacated, all notices or orders will be reviewed to consider whether they 
may be varied, suspended or revoked. The Council will seek to deter landlords from 
undertaking retaliatory eviction and will not consider that removal of a tenant 
achieves compliance with any notice served, except in overcrowding situations 
where it was a specific requirement of the notice.

Page 28



11 of 30

Works in Default

Where the person(s) responsible has failed to comply with an enforcement notice 
which requires works to be completed, the Council may carry out those works 
instead; these are known as works in default. This may be done either with or 
without the agreement of the person(s) on whom the notice was served. Once the 
Council has started the work, it is an offence for that person to obstruct us or any of 
the contractors that have been employed to carry out the works. The Council will 
seek to recover the costs incurred in undertaking works. It should be noted that 
carrying out works in default does not prevent the Council from taking additional 
forms of enforcement action which may be appropriate.

Revoking / Varying a Licence

Where a property is licenced under Part 2 or Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004, the 
Council has the power to revoke or vary the licence.

Licences can be revoked where any term of the licence has been breached or where 
other offences have been committed which mean that the persons involved are no 
longer fit and proper persons for the purposes of housing licensing.

A licence can also be revoked by the agreement of the licence holder, for example 
where the property is sold or where the licence holder wishes to relinquish the 
licence.

Licences can be varied where there has been a change of circumstances at the 
property and this includes the discovery of breaches or offences committed by 
persons involved with the licence or management of the property.

Where a licence holder is made the subject of a Banning Order under Section 16 of 
the Housing and Planning Act 2016, the Council is under a duty to revoke any 
licences they hold.

Civil Penalties

The power to impose civil penalties as an alternative to prosecution for specific 
offences under the Housing act 2004 was introduced by Section 126 and Schedule 9 
of the Housing and Planning Act 2016. The offences for which a civil penalty can be 
imposed are as follows:

 Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice (section 30);

 Offences in relation to the licensing of HMOs (section 72);

 Offences in relation to licensing of houses under Part 3 of the Act (section 95);

 Offences of contravention of an overcrowding notice (section 139);

Page 29



12 of 30

 Failure to comply with management regulations in respect of HMOs (section 
234).

The same criminal standard of proof is required for a civil penalty as for a criminal 
prosecution. A civil penalty can be imposed for up to £30,000 per offence. Each 
individual breach of the management regulations (section 234) is treated as a 
separate offence. The exact amount of any civil penalty will be calculated in 
accordance with the Council’s Private Sector Housing Civil Penalties policy.  

The Council will consider its enforcement options on a case by case basis and may 
decide that a significant financial penalty (or penalties if there have been several 
breeches), rather than prosecution is the most appropriate and effective sanction.

Where the Council is satisfied that there is sufficient evidence to provide a realistic 
prospect of conviction, but that it is not considered in the public interest to seek to 
remove the landlord from the market by way of a banning order, the Council will 
always consider a civil penalty in the first instance.

Prosecution may however be the most appropriate option where an offence is 
particularly serious or where the offender has committed similar offences in the past. 

Prior to imposing a civil penalty, the Council will serve a notice of intent and this will 
give the recipient an opportunity to make representations against the proposed civil 
penalty.

Rent Repayment Orders

A Rent Repayment Order (RRO) can be made by a First Tier Tribunal where they 
are satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that a landlord has committed certain 
offences (whether the landlord has been convicted of that offence or not). The 
landlord can be required to repay up to 12 months rent, either to a tenant for rent 
paid or the Council for housing benefit or universal credit paid in relation to the rent 
of the property. Where a landlord is convicted of one of the relevant offences, the 
Council must consider applying for an RRO. The specific offences for which an order 
can be sought are as follows:

 Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice (Housing Act 2004, section 30);

 Failure to comply with a Prohibiion Order (Housing Act 2004, section 32);

 Offences in relation to licensing of HMOs (Housing Act 2004, section 72);

 Offences in relation to licensing of houses under Part 3 of the Act (Housing 
Act 2004, section 95);

 Breach of a Banning Order (Housing and Planning Act 2016, section 21);

Page 30



13 of 30

 Using violence to secure entry to a property (Criminal Law Act 1977, section 
6);

 Illegal eviction or harassment of the occupiers (Protection from Eviction Act 
1977, section 1).

The Council will usually apply for the full amount that can be recovered and lesser 
amounts will only be sought in exceptional circumstances. The Council can also help 
tenants apply for an RRO. Applications for an RRO can be made in addition to other 
formal action taken in relation to the same offence. When deciding whether or not to 
apply for an RRO, the Council will have regard to the relevant statutory guidance.

Simple Cautions

A simple caution may be offered as an alternative to prosecution where the Council 
is satisfied that there is sufficient evidence to provide a realistic prospect of 
conviction in respect of the offence(s) and that the public interest test would be better 
satisfied by offering a simple caution rather than proceeding with a prosecution.

A simple caution must not be offered to a person who has not made a clear and 
reliable admission to committing the offence(s). Before the simple caution is 
administered, officers shall ensure that the Landlord has made an admission of guilt, 
understands the implications of accepting a simple caution and consents to accept it.

Prosecutions

Prosecution will be considered where the Council is satisfied that it has sufficient 
evidence to provide a realistic prospect of conviction and where a prosecution would 
be in the public interest. When deciding whether to prosecute, the Council has 
regard to this enforcement policy and the provisions of The Code for Crown 
Prosecutors as issued by the Director of Public Prosecutions.

Banning Orders

A Banning Order is an order made by the First Tier Property Tribunal, banning a 
person from letting a house in England and/or engaging in English letting agency or 
property management work.

The Council may apply for a banning order against a person who has been convicted 
of a banning order offence. There are 41 different banning order offences under 14 
different statutes. The length of a banning order must be at least 12 months and 
there is no upper limit.

Rogue Landlord Database

The Council will enter a landlord’s details onto the database if they receive a banning 
order, if they are convicted of a banning order offence or if they receive two or more 

Page 31



14 of 30

civil penalties over a 12 month period. The Council is responsible for maintaining the 
content of the database.

How will the Council choose which type of enforcement action to take?

Where an inspection shows a Category 1 hazard to be present, the Council will take 
one of the appropriate courses of action specified in The Act. If the hazard(s) do not 
present an imminent risk to health, the Council will normally try to address offences 
or hazards by first asking the landlord to comply with their duties and responsibilities 
and warning them about the consequences of failing to comply. This would usually 
be achieved through the service of a Hazard Awareness Notice. This will give the 
property owner a reasonable amount of time to rectify the defects and remove or 
reduce the hazard to an acceptable level.

If the owner fails to take this action in the specified time, an Improvement Notice will 
be served. If the owner has a significant record of non-compliance with the Act, then 
an Improvement Notice will be served immediately without the intermediate stage of 
service of a Hazard Awareness Notice. An Improvement Notice may also be served 
immediately if the hazard is considered to be of a serious nature or if there are a 
number of Category 1 hazards.

Where an inspection identifies Category 2 hazards and these hazards fall into Band 
D or E of the HHSRS, the same procedure will be followed as when a Category 1 
hazard is present. 

Where an inspection finds Category 2 hazards in Band F or below, the council will 
not normally take any further action unless there are exceptional circumstances. For 
example – where multiple hazards at Band D or below combine to create a more 
serious situation, where a property appears to be in a dilapidated condition or where 
the conditions are such as to be affecting the material comfort of an occupying 
tenant.

If there is a serious risk to the health and safety of the occupiers, then consideration 
will be given to the service of a Prohibition Order. If this serious risk is imminent, 
consideration will be given to the service of an Emergency Prohibition Order, or to 
undertaking Emergency Remedial Action. 

Where an offence is serious enough or where the landlord has failed to respond to 
initial enforcement action, the Council may determine that it is in the public interest to 
take the highest level of enforcement action available. This can include civil 
penalties, prosecution, simple caution, banning orders (when they come into force) 
and interim/final management orders. 

To reduce the likelihood of retaliatory eviction, enforcement action will continue until 
the property is brought up to a satisfactory condition, whether or not the original 
tenant remains in the property.

Page 32



15 of 30

Level to which hazards are to be improved

The Housing Act 2004 requires only that the works specified when taking the most 
appropriate course of action, reduce a Category 1 hazard to a Category 2 hazard. 
For example, Band A to C hazards need only be reduced to Band D. The Council will 
generally seek to specify works which achieve a significant reduction in the hazard 
level and in particular will be to a standard that should ensure that no further 
intervention should be required for a minimum period of 3 years.

Retaliatory Eviction

The Deregulation Act 2015 provides tenants with protection from eviction in 
retaliation for making a complaint in relation to hazards in their home. The protection 
only applies in certain circumstances. The circumstances require that a relevant 
formal legal notice has been served under the Housing Act 2004. Following a period 
of consultation, the Private Sector Housing team will only serve the relevant formal 
legal notices in line with this policy.

Charging for enforcement activity

There will be a charge for Notices served and Orders made under Part 1 of the 
Housing Act 2004 (see Fees and Charges Policy). The charge will not be applied 
until the end of any appeal period contained within the notice. If there is an appeal, 
then the charge will not be applied until the appeal is resolved and subject to the 
notice being confirmed by the tribunal.

Where works in default are carried out, an administrative charge of 12% of the cost 
of the works will be added to the total amount to be recovered.

Land Charges

Certain legal notices served will be registered as a part 1 land charge which will not 
be removed from the register until it is complied with.

Where works are completed by the Council (as emergency or in default) or a charge 
is made for the service of notice these notices will be registered as a part 2 land 
charge, which will not be removed from the register until payment is received.

Land charges will show up on a general land search (for example when searches are 
made by a purchaser’s solicitor if a property is being sold).

Requesting Information

Section 235 of the Housing Act 2004

The Private Sector Housing team is able to use powers under section 235 of the 
Housing Act 2004 to require documentation from any relevant person, to assist the 
Council with any investigation or function under Parts 1-4 of the Housing Act 2004. 

Page 33



16 of 30

Failure to comply with a notice under this section is a criminal offence with a 
maximum fine of £5,000.

Section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

Section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 gives the 
Council the power to issue ‘Requisition for Information’ notices. When the Council 
needs to obtain information about a property in respect of which it is proposing to 
take enforcement action, it will serve a requisition for information notice upon the 
owner and/or any other person who has a legal interest in it, or who directly or 
indirectly receives rent, or is authorised to manage or arrange for its letting. Failure 
to comply with a notice under this section is a criminal offence with a maximum fine 
of £5,000.

Additional Enforcement Powers

Although housing issues will primarily be dealt with under the Housing Act 2004, 
there may be circumstances where the use of other legislation is more appropriate.

 Environmental Protection Act 1990 – we will use this to tackle premises that 
are considered prejudicial to health or a nuisance. 

 Building Act 1984, Section 59 – used to deal with defective drainage issues in 
existing buildings.

 Public Health Acts 1936 and 1961 – we will use these to tackle drainage 
issues and filthy and verminous premises.

 Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949, Section 4 – we will use this to 
require works necessary where there is potential for an infestation of pests.

 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, Section 29 – This 
gives the council the power to require the owner to board up a dwelling to 
prevent unauthorised access, and to carry out the work in default, if the owner 
fails to comply or cannot be found.

 Housing Act 1985 (As Amended) – Some provisions within the 1985 Act have 
not been revoked and may be appropriate to use in some circumstances. In 
particular the overcrowding provisions are still available and may be used 
where the 2004 Act is not sufficient.

 The Redress Schemes for Lettings Agency Work (Requirement to belong to a 
scheme etc.) (England) Order 2014 – This order requires a person who 
engages in property management work to be a member of a redress scheme 
for dealing with complaints in connection with that work. Government 

Page 34



17 of 30

guidance states that the expectation is that for this contravention, a £5,000 
penalty should be considered the norm.

 The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 – This 
can be used where there is not at least one smoke alarm on each storey of a 
rented property and/or where there is no carbon monoxide detector in a room 
with a solid fuel burning appliance.

 Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) Regulations 2015 (Energy Act 
2011) – These regulations make it unlawful for landlords to grant a new 
tenancy or renew an existing tenancy of a private rented property with an 
energy performance certificate (EPC) rating of F or G from 1 April 2018 
(unless an exemption applies and is registered). From 1 April 2020 it will be 
unlawful to let any domestic private rented property with an EPC rating of F or 
G (unless an exemption applies and is registered). Landlords who do not 
comply with the regulations face a fine of up to £5,000.

Tenure

Registered Providers

Registered Providers (RPs) exist to provide suitable and properly maintained 
accommodation for their tenants. They are managed by Boards (which typically 
include tenant representatives) and their performance is scrutinised by the Homes 
and Communities Agency. RPs employ staff to manage and maintain their properties 
and will usually have written arrangements for reporting problems, setting out the 
response times they aim to achieve, and detailing the process for registering any 
complaints about service failure.

On this basis, the Council will seek to deal with RPs in a proportionate manner, 
classing complaints against RPs as low risk. These complaints will initially be dealt 
with in writing, without a formal inspection being undertaken.

In exceptional circumstances we may prioritise urgent or serious complaints 
concerning RP properties. However, the Council must be satisfied that:

 The problem in question has been properly reported to the RP; and

 The RP has then failed to take appropriate action within a reasonable 
timescale, taking into account its published or other realistic response targets;

Then the Council will inspect and take enforcement action in line with this policy.

Page 35



18 of 30

Owner Occupied Properties

The council expects that owner-occupiers will take their own action to maintain their 
homes the requirement to take the most appropriate course of action will be satisfied 
by the service of a Hazard Awareness Notice.

In some exceptional cases, in line with the HHSRS Enforcement Guidance, it will be 
necessary to take formal enforcement action. This is likely to be where there is an 
imminent risk of serious harm to the occupiers themselves or to others, or where the 
condition of the dwelling is such that it may adversely affect the health and safety of 
others outside the household.

Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004 – Mandatory Licensing of Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs)

In addition to the previously mentioned enforcement options, the Council has further 
powers to ensure adequate standards in HMOs are met and maintained.

The Housing Act 2004 introduced a mandatory scheme to licence HMOs. Mandatory 
licensing currently applies only to larger high risk HMOs of three or more storeys, 
occupied by five or more people, comprising two or more households.

The HMO licensing regime provides procedures to assess the fitness of a person to 
be a licence holder, potential management arrangements of the premises and 
suitability of the property for the number of occupants, including the proviosn of 
relevant and adequate equipment and facilities at the property.

It is a criminal offence if a person controlling or managing such a HMO does not 
have the required licence. Breaking any condition of a licence is also an offence.

The Government has advised that it intends to proceed with secondary legislation to 
increase the extent of mandatory licensing of HMOs. From 1 October 2018, the three 
storey requirement will be dropped, so that any HMO occupied by five or more 
people, comprising two or more households will require a licence.

This policy will be updated to reflect these changes once the regulations have been 
enacted.

Discretionary Licensing

Additional Licensing

The Council has the power to designate additional licensing schemes covering 
smaller HMOs or Section 257 converted flats, across the whole or part of the 
borough. The Council will consider the introduction of such a scheme where it 
believes that there are a large number of HMOs in an area which are been poorly 
managed and causing problems for the tenants or members of the public.

Page 36



19 of 30

When considering whether to make an additional licensing designation, the Council 
must first identify the objective or objectives that a designation will help it achieve. 
Secondly, it must also consider whether there are any other courses of action 
available to it that would achieve the same objective or objectives as the proposed 
scheme without the need for the designation to be made.

The Council must consult local residents, landlords and tenants prior to the 
introduction of such a scheme.

If the problems of anti-social behaviour are only associated with a small number of 
properties, the Council will consider making a Special Interim Management Order 
rather than an additional licensing designation.

Selective Licensing

The Council has the power to introduce selective licensing schemes in relation to 
privately rented housing that is not a HMO, across the whole or part of the borough. 
Landlords who rent out properties in an area that is subject to selective licensing will 
be required to obtain a licence from the Council for each of their properties. Selective 
licensing is available only where the Council believes that is would reduce or 
eliminate specific housing problems.

A selective licensing designation may be made if the area to which it relates satisfies 
one or more of the following conditions. The area is one experiencing:

 Low housing demand (or is likely to become such an area);

 A significant and persistent problem caused by anti-social behaviour;

 Poor property conditions;

 High levels of migration;

 High levels of deprivation;

 High levels of crime.

When considering whether to make a selective licensing designation the Council 
must first identify the objective or objectives that a designation will help it achieve.

Secondly, it must also consider whether there are any other courses of action 
available to it that would achieve the same objective or objectives as the proposed 
scheme without the need for the designation to be made.

The Council must consult local residents, landlords and tenants prior to the 
introduction of such a scheme.

Page 37



20 of 30

If the problems of anti-social behaviour are only associated with a small number of 
properties, the Council will consider making a Special Interim Management Order, 
rather than a selective licensing designation.

Management Orders

Interim or Final Management Orders

The Council is under a duty to apply for an interim management order where a 
property requires a licence, or will after the current one is revoked, but there is no 
reasonable prospect of it becoming licenced or there are significant health and safety 
concerns at the property. An interim management order can be made for up to 12 
months. 

Where an interim management order is coming to an end and the criteria for 
applying for the order still apply, the Council can apply for a final management order, 
which can be made for up to 5 years. 

Whilst a management order is in place, the Council, or an agent appointed by the 
Council, will be responsible for managing the property and carrying out any works 
that are required. The Council will receive the rental income and deduct any relevant 
expenditure from this amount before transferring the excess, if any remains, to the 
landlord.

Special Interim Management Orders

Where the Council is satisfied that a significant and persistent problem of antisocial 
behaviour in an area is attributable, in full or in part, to the antisocial behaviour of an 
occupier of a HMO or other dwelling and that the landlord is failing to take action to 
combat the problem, it can make a Special Interim Management Order. A Special 
Interim Management Order operates in the same way as an Interim Management 
Order. 

Empty Homes

Interim Empty Dwelling Management Order

An Interim Empty Dwelling Management Order (interim EDMO) is an Order 
authorised after a successful application to the First Tier Tribunal. The dwelling must 
have been wholly unoccupied for at least two years and there is no reasonable 
prospect that the dwelling will become occupied in the near future. An interim EDMO 
enables the Council to take steps to ensure, with the consent of the owner, that an 
empty dwelling becomes occupied. An interim EDMO lasts no longer than 12 
months.

Page 38



21 of 30

Final Empty Dwelling Management Order

A Final Empty Dwelling Management Order (Final EDMO) may replace an Interim 
EDMO if the Council feels that unless a Final EDMO is in place, the dwelling will 
become or remain empty. Where the dwelling is already unoccupied, the Council 
must have taken all appropriate steps under the interim EDMO with a view to 
ensuring that the dwelling becomes occupied. A final EDMO lasts for 7 years. Orders 
can be varied or revoked in accordance with the provisions of Part 4 of the Act.

Compulsory Purchase

The Council may consider the use of a Compulsory Purchase Order where:

 The owner of an empty home cannot be found or refuses to take action to 
secure re-occupation of the dwelling;

 The dwelling is giving rise to problems in the neighbourhood;

 Other circumstances where a Compulsory Purchase Order is deemed to be 
the most appropriate course of action.

When deciding on the use of a Compulsory Purchase Order, each case will be 
judged on its own merits.

Enforced Sale

Where a significant debt has been registered as a Local Land Charge against a 
property, and remains unpaid for a lengthy period of time, the Council may, where 
appropriate, commence proceedings to enforce the sale of the property. The 
proceeds of the sale will be given to the owner less the amount of debt and less the 
costs incurred by the Council.

Other aspects of Private Sector Housing work

Hoarding

Hoarding situations may be brought to our attention in both the rented and owner 
occupied sector. The Council’s priority would always to be to protect the interests of 
any vulnerable occupants and work with them, engaging other agencies where 
appropriate to avoid the need for enforcement action. However, there may be 
circumstances where nuisance is being caused to neighbouring properties and we 
are under a duty to take enforcement action.

Overcrowding and Immigration

Where residents believe that their property is overcrowded then the Council will 
assess the property and the current occupation based on information provided to 

Page 39



22 of 30

determine if it is statutorily overcrowded. Where this is found to be the case, an 
inspection will be completed to confirm this.

We will liaise with the Council’s Housing Options team where we are taking 
enforcement action that is likely to lead to occupiers moving out of their 
accommodation.

Where a resident requests the overcrowding inspection because they require it for 
immigration or UK Visa purposes, then an inspection will be completed to determine 
if the property is suitable for the total number of potential occupants. This is a 
chargeable service. 

Complaints

In the event that an individual or company is not satisfied with the service or does not 
agree with the action taken by the investigating officer, they should first contact the 
Private Sector Housing Manager. A response to the complaint would be expected 
within 10 working days; if we are unable to respond within 10 working days we will 
respond and let you know when you can expect a response.

If this does not resolve the complaint the Council also has a formal complaints 
system. Visit www.allerdale.gov.uk for more details or use any of the following 
contact methods:

By telephone: 0303 123 1702 - Customer Contact Centre
01900 702570 - Housing and Health

By email: housing.services@allerdale.gov.uk

By post or in person: Allerdale Borough Council
Allerdale House
Workington 
Cumbria
CA14 3YJ

NB: This does not have any bearing on any right of appeal that may exist in relation 
to the various legal enforcement actions taken by the Council.

Monitoring and Review

The Council’s Private Sector Housing Manager is responsible for ensuring that 
officers implement the service in accordance with this policy. Procedures are in place 
which include details of how checks are made to ensure compliance with this policy.

In accordance with the Regulators’ Compliance Code, the council will keep its 
regulatory activities and interventions under review. This document will be reviewed 

Page 40

http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/


23 of 30

at a minimum every 12 months to take into consideration relevant changes to 
legislation or other guidance that may affect it.

Page 41



24 of 30

Appendix One

Housing disrepair procedure

We offer advice and guidance on housing conditions to private tenants, owners, 
agents, trustees and landlords in Allerdale. We endeavour to improve standards, 
using legal powers where appropriate, in line with our Enforcement Policy and 
procedures. If we can’t help directly, we’ll try and signpost you to another 
organisation who can.

Each case will be assessed on risk. This allows us to prioritise the worst housing 
conditions for those people who require help the most. If there is an imminent risk to 
health then the Council must act immediately and cases will aim to be contacted and 
inspected within 24 hours. 

In all other instances, tenants will be encouraged to approach their landlord directly 
about their complaint.  In most circumstances the tenant will be advised to put their 
complaint in writing and request a reply within 14 days.  The tenant will be advised to 
ensure they put the date on their letter and keep a copy of it.  After the 14 day period 
has expired, and if the landlord as not agreed to carry out any work, the tenant will 
be advised to contact us again, providing a copy of the letter they sent to their 
landlord. Standard letter templates will be provided as required.

If the tenant has not received a satisfactory outcome, arrangements will be made 
inspect and rate the property using the Housing Health and Safety Rating System. A 
letter providing notice of entry will be sent to the tenant and landlord. We aim to carry 
out an inspection within 15 working days. 

Complaints against Registered Providers will generally be classed as low risk as 
they are expected to have their own effective procedures for dealing with disrepair. 
Such complaints will initially be dealt with without a formal inspection being 
undertaken. 

However, where the Council is satisfied that:

 The problem in question has been properly reported to the RP; and

 The RP has then failed to take appropriate action within a reasonable 
timescale, taking into account its published or other realistic response targets;

Then the Council will inspect and take enforcement action in line with this Policy.

Tenants should be advised that the Council are unable to protect them from eviction 
should they complain, however officers will provide support and advice should this 
occur.

Page 42



25 of 30

Following an inspection, a copy of the inspection report will be provided to the 
landlord and tenant within 10 working days. If immediate enforcement action is 
required, then this will be discussed at the time of the inspection.

Any works that are required to be undertaken will be detailed within the inspection 
report along with timescales for this to be completed. Both tenant and landlord will be 
contacted within one month of any deadline set in the inspection report, in order to 
arrange access to carry out an inspection of the work that has been undertaken.

Page 43



26 of 30

Appendix 2

Calculating Fixed Penalty Charges - The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm 
(England) Regulations 2015

The regulations require a statement of principles to be followed in order to determine 
the amount of a penalty charge.

The following principles were considered:

1. That the Regulations would not have allowed a maximum fine of £5000 had it 
not been envisaged that this is the amount considered fair for Councils to 
levy.

2. That the cost of the remedy will be relatively low in most cases and that the 
amount of the penalty charge should reflect a disregard of the duty to remove 
the risk to life arising from a domestic fire.

3. In calculating the amount of the penalty charge it would be fair to work on the 
perceived average costs involved within the District.

4. It is necessary to fix and publish the charge that could be expected to be paid 
so that there is forewarning of the consequences of committing an offence.

5. A reduction to the amount of the penalty charge will be made where the 
amount is paid before remedial works have to be undertaken and/or where a 
Court Order does not have to be applied for to recover payment.

The amount of a penalty charge will comprise the following elements:

1. An amount for the average length of time it will take officers of the Council to:-

 Determine that the standard of the Regulations have been contravened.

 Prepare and send a remedial notice to the landlord.

 Arrange for remedial action if the landlord has not complied with the remedial 
notice.

 Serve a penalty charge notice if the landlord has not complied with the 
remedial notice.

 Facilitate an appeal against the penalty charge notice.

 Process the payment of the penalty charge amount.

 Recover the penalty charge via a Court Order if the landlord does not pay 
voluntarily.

Page 44



27 of 30

2. A level of fine that the offence might attract as though the case had gone 
before the Magistrate.

The costs have been determined as follows:

Determine that the standard of the regulations have been contravened:

Officer Rate per hr Time Cost

Average travel time to visit house EHO £24.66 30 mins £12.33

Average time to verify breach of 
Regulations

EHO £24.66 10 mins £4.11

Average time to record notes to 
computer system

EHO £24.66 15 mins £6.17

Total £22.61

Prepare and send a remedial notice to the landlord

Officer Rate per hr Time Cost

Verify landlord’s details EHO £24.66 10 mins £4.11

Administer Notice EHO £24.66 1 hour £24.66

Total £28.77

Arrange for remedial action if the landlord has not complied with the remedial 
notice.

Officer Rate per hr Time Cost

Confirm  tenant wishes remediation EHO 24.66 10 mins £4.11

Instruct authorised person 
remediate

EHO 24.66 20 mins £8.22

Verify work has been done EHO 24.66 40 mins £16.44

Process payment to Finance Admin 19.98 30 mins £9.99

Administration by Finance 
Department

Admin 19.98 30 mins £9.99

Page 45



28 of 30

Total £48.75

Serve a penalty charge notice if the landlord has not complied with the 
remedial notice.

Officer Rate per hr Time Cost

Confirm notice’s non-compliance EHO £24.66 40 mins £16.44

Issue Notice and cover letter EHO £24.66 3 hours £73.98

Total £90.42

Facilitate an appeal against the penalty charge notice

Officer Rate per hr Time Cost

Correspond with appellant EHO £24.66 1hr £24.66

Prepare papers EHO £24.66 3hrs £73.98

Hear the appeal

Head of 
Service

£41.23 1hr £41.23

Total £139.87

Total Cost = £330.42

Page 46



29 of 30

Private Sector Housing Research – Prosecuting Landlords for Poor Property 
Conditions – Research findings on the resources and timescales for councils in 
prosecuting private landlords in cases of poor property conditions, and the level of 
fines awarded in court - Local Government Association 2014

Fine

C
ouncil’s 

stated costs

C
osts 

A
w

arded

W
as this 

am
ount 

requested?

PSH
 team

 
costs

Legal team
 

costs

C
ouncil’s 

stated costs

Shortfall

Eleven 
contraventions 
of HMO 
management 
regulations 

£2,600 £6,438 £1,995 Yes £1,995 £5,443 £1995 £5443

Failure to 
comply with an 
improvement 
notice regarding 
nine health 
hazards: 

£3,000 £2,190 £2,190 Yes £1,765 £425 £2,190

Three breaches 
of HMO 
management 
regulations 

£5,000 £1,363 £1,363 Yes £1,038 £325 £1,363

Five 
contraventions 
of HMO 
management 
regulations 

£1,210 £3238 £3238 Yes £1,090 £2,148 £3,238

Failure to 
comply with 
improvement 
notice

£100 £787 £787 Yes £451 £336 £787

Page 47



30 of 30

Failure to 
comply with an 
improvement 
notice

£1,000 £3,000 £1,000 33% £1,376 £1,624 £3,000 £2000

Average £2151.25 £1 893 £1094 £1158 £2252

Outcome of research

Suggest first offence fine of £1330.42 (based on costs plus £1000 fine)
Second offence fine of £2330.42 (based on costs plus £2000 fine)

Fines increasing by £1000 for each subsequent offence up to the maximum 
allowed of £5000.

Page 48



31 of 30

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50



Page 1 of 24

Private Sector Housing
Civil Penalties Policy

April 2018

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit”
Page 51



Page 2 of 24

Contents        Page

Section 1 – Introduction & Overview

1.1 Introduction 4

1.2 When will the Council consider civil penalties as an enforcement option? 5

Section 2 – Determining the Civil Penalty Amount

2.1 Overview 5

2.2 Stage 1 Overview 6

2.3 Step 1: Culpability 7

2.4 Assessing a landlord’s culpability 8

2.5 Step 2: Seriousness of Harm Risked 8

2.6 Step 3: Penalty Levels 9

2.7 Step 4: Penalty Bands 10

2.8 Stage 2 Overview 10

2.9 The landlord’s finances 11

2.10 How is the increase as a result of the landlord’s income calculated? 11

2.11 What if tenancy agreements of management contracts are not available? 13

2.12 The landlord’s track record 13

2.13 How is the increase as a result of the landlord’s track record calculated? 14

2.14 Stage 3 Overview 16

2.15 How are the figures from stage 1 and stage 2 combined? 17

2.16 Stage 4 Overview 17

2.17 How is the financial benefit determined? 17

2.18 How is the financial benefit added to the penalty amount? 18

Section 3 – Imposing a Civil Penalty

3.1 Where is the process for civil penalties set out? 18

Page 52



Page 3 of 24

3.2 Notice of intent 18

3.3 Representations 19

3.4 Final Notice 19

3.5 Withdrawing or Amending Notices 20

3.6 Appeals to the Tribunal 20

3.7 Payment of a Civil Penalty 20

3.8 Other consequences of having a Civil Penalty imposed 20

3.9 Recovering an unpaid Civil Penalty 21

3.10 Income from Civil Penalties 21

Section 4 – Worked Examples

4.1 Worked Example 1 22

4.2 Worked Example 2 23

Page 53



Page 4 of 24

Section 1 – Introduction & Overview

1.1 Introduction

Allerdale Borough Council is committed to improving standards in private sector 
housing and ensuring that all private rented accommodation is well managed, 
properly maintained, safe and habitable.

This Private Sector Housing Civil Penalties Policy contains information about civil 
penalties and how the Council is planning to use them. It is designed to ensure 
transparency, consistency and fairness in how and when civil penalties are imposed. 
This Policy was created in accordance with statutory guidance and should be read in 
conjunction with the Council’s Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy.

In this document, the term “landlord” will be used to refer to the “owner”, “person 
having control”, “person managing” or “licence holder”, as defined under the Housing 
Act 2004. 

The Housing and Planning Act 2016 introduced a number of amendments to the 
Housing Act 2004. Since 6 April 2017, local housing authorities have had the power 
to impose civil penalties of up to £30,000, as an alternative to prosecution for certain 
offences under the Housing Act 2004.

These offences are:

 Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice (section 30);

 Offences in relation to the licensing of HMOs (section 72);

 Offences in relation to licensing of houses under Part 3 of the Act (section 95);

 Offences of contravention of an overcrowding notice (section 139);

 Failure to comply with management regulations in respect of HMOs (section 
234).

The same criminal standard of proof is required for a civil penalty as for a criminal 
prosecution. This means that before a civil penalty can be imposed, the Council must 
be satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that the landlord committed the offence(s) and 
that if the matter were to be prosecuted in the magistrates’ court, there would be a 
realistic prospect of conviction.

In determining whether there is sufficient evidence to secure a conviction, the 
Council will have regard to the Crown Prosecution Service Code for Crown 
Prosecutors, published by the Director of Public Prosecutions. The finding that there 
is a realistic prospect of conviction is based on an objective assessment of the 
evidence, including whether the evidence is admissible, reliable, credible and the 

Page 54



Page 5 of 24

impact of any defence. The Council must also be satisfied that the public interest will 
be properly served by imposing a civil penalty.

1.2 When will the Council consider a civil penalty as an enforcement 
option?

The Council will consider Civil Penalties for all landlords that are in breach of one or 
more of the sections of the Housing Act 2004 listed above. Enforcement action will 
be considered on a case-by-case basis in line with the Private Sector Housing 
Enforcement Policy.

If the Council believes that it has a reasonable prospect of a conviction in a particular 
case, it will always consider a civil penalty in the first instance. The use of civil 
penalties will not only prevent the unscrupulous and irresponsible landlords from 
profiting from letting unsafe properties, but it will also demonstrate the Council’s 
commitment to ensuring that it is offenders (rather than responsible landlords or the 
local council tax payers) who pay for the cost of housing enforcement.

As the Council is allowed to retain the income it receives from civil penalties, this 
course of action will also provide the Council with the opportunity to increase its 
housing enforcement activity in the borough.

Prosecution may however be the most appropriate option where an offence is 
particularly serious or where the offender has committed similar offences in the past. 
Prosecution for an offence will be taken where there have been two or more previous 
offences by the same landlord or letting agent within 3 years or the landlord has 
been listed on the national Rogue Landlords database.

Section 2

Determining the Civil Penalty Amount

2.1 Overview

The Council has the power to impose a civil penalty of up to £30,000; this section 
sets out how the Council will determine the appropriate level of civil penalty in each 
particular case.

In developing a methodology for setting the level of civil penalty, the Council have 
had regard to the statutory guidance published by The Department of Communities 
and Local Government (DCLG). This identifies a range of factors that should be 
taken into consideration. These are:

 Severity of the offence – The more serious the offence, the higher the penalty 
should be.

Page 55



Page 6 of 24

 Culpability and track record of the offender – A higher penalty will be 
appropriate where the offender has a history of failing to comply with their 
obligations and/or their actions were deliberate and/or they knew, or ought to 
have known that they were in breach of their legal responsibilities. Landlords 
are running a business and should be expected to be aware of their legal 
obligations.

 The level of harm caused to the tenant – The greater the harm, or the 
potential for harm, the higher the civil penalty should be.

 Punishment of the offender – A civil penalty should not be regarded as an 
easy or lesser option when compared to prosecution. While the penalty 
should be proportionate, it is important that it is set at a high enough level to 
help ensure that it has a real economic impact on the offender and 
demonstrates the consequences of not complying with their responsibilities.

 Deterring the offender from repeating the offence – The goal is to prevent any 
further offending and help ensure that the landlord fully complies with their 
legal responsibilities in the future. The level of penalty should therefore be set 
at a high enough level that it is likely to deter the offender from repeating the 
offence.

 Deterring others from committing similar offences – Other landlords in the 
local area may become aware when someone has received a civil penalty and 
be deterred from committing a similar offence.

 Remove any financial benefit the offender may have obtained because of 
committing the offence – The offender should not benefit as a result of 
committing an offence. It should not be cheaper to offend than to ensure that 
a property is well maintained and properly managed.

The civil penalty will consist of two components. The first is the penalty 
calculation; this considers the severity of the offence, the landlord’s track record 
and the landlord’s income. The second takes into account any financial benefit 
which the landlord has obtained from committing the offence. These components 
are then added together to determine the final penalty amount that will be 
imposed on the landlord.

Stage 1 - Determining the Penalty Band

2.2 Overview

This first stage considers the landlord’s culpability for the offence and the 
seriousness of harm risked to the tenants or visitors to the property.

Page 56



Page 7 of 24

A higher penalty will be appropriate where the landlord has a history of failing to 
comply with their obligations and/or their actions were deliberate. Landlords are 
running a business and are expected to be aware of their legal obligations. There 
are four steps to this process and each step is set out below.

2.3 Step 1: Culpability

Table 1 sets out the four levels of culpability that will be considered: each level 
has accompanying examples of the behaviours that could constitute that 
particular level. The behaviour of the landlord should be compared to this table to 
determine the appropriate level of culpability. This exercise will be repeated for 
each offence that is being considered as the landlord’s culpability may vary 
between offences.

Table 1 – Levels of Culpability

Very High  Deliberate breach of or flagrant disregard for the law.

High  Offender fell far short of their legal duties; for example 
by:

- Failing to put in place measures that are recognised 
legal requirements or regulations;

- Ignoring warnings raised by the local Council, 
tenants or others;

- Failing to make appropriate changes after being 
made aware of risks, breaches or offences;

- Allowing risks, breaches or offences to continue 
over a long period of time.

 Serious and/or systematic failure by the person or 
organisation to comply with legal duties.

Medium  Offender fell far short of their legal duties in a manner 
that falls between descriptions in the ‘high’ and ‘low’ 
culpability categories.

 Systems were in place to manage risk or comply with 
legal duties but these were not sufficiently adhered to 

Page 57



Page 8 of 24

or implemented.

Low  Offender did not fall far short of their legal duties; for 
example, because:

- Significant efforts were made to address the risk, 
breaches or offences, although they were 
inadequate on this occasion;

- They have offered a reasonable defence for why 
they were unaware of the risk, breach or offence.

 Failings were minor and occurred as an isolated 
incident.

2.4 Assessing a landlord’s culpability

When assessing culpability, consider all evidence gathered as part of the 
investigation into the offence and identify any aggravating or mitigating factors which 
may be relevant to an assessment of culpability,

Using these factors, consider each category of culpability in table 1 and identify the 
one that the landlord’s behaviour falls within; where a landlord’s behaviour could 
meet more than one of the categories, choose the highest one of those met.

Any assessment of culpability should include a consideration of any past 
enforcement action against the landlord. Details of what is appropriate to consider 
can be found in section 2.12.

2.5 Step 2: Seriousness of Harm Risked

Table 2 separates the seriousness of harm risked into three levels. The harm risked 
by the offence should be compared to the table to determine the appropriate level. 
This exercise will be repeated for each offence that is being considered as the 
seriousness of harm risked can vary between offences.

When using the table to determine the appropriate level, consideration should be 
given to the worst possible harm outcomes that could reasonably occur as a result of 
the landlord committing the offence. This means that even if some harm has already 
come to tenants or visitors to the property, consideration should still be given to 
whether there was the potential for even greater harm to have occurred.

Page 58



Page 9 of 24

Table 2 – Seriousness of Harm Risked

Level A The seriousness of harm risked would meet the guidance for Class 
I and Class II harm outcomes in the Housing Health and Safety 
Rating System.

Level B The seriousness of harm risked would meet the guidance for Class 
III and Class IV harm outcomes in the Housing Health and Safety 
Rating System.

Level C All other cases not falling within Level A or Level B (e.g. where an 
offence occurred but the level of harm to the tenants or visitors 
does not meet the descriptions for Level A or Level B).

Further information about the classes of harm under the Housing Health and Safety 
Rating System can be found in appendix I.

2.6 Step 3: Penalty Levels

Using the already determined level of culpability and the seriousness of harm risked, 
find the appropriate penalty level (1-5+) in Table 3.

Page 59



Page 10 of 24

Table 3 – Penalty Levels

Seriousness of 
Harm Risked

Very High High Medium Low

Level A 5+ 5 4 3

Level B 5 4 3 2

Level C 4 3 2 1

2.7 Step 4: Penalty Bands

Table 4 – Penalty Bands

Penalty Level Penalty Band

 1 £600-£1200

 2 £1200-£3000

3 £3000-£6000

4 £6000-£15,000

5/5+ £15,000-£30,000

Stage 2

Considering the landlord’s income and track record.

2.8 Stage 2 Overview

There are two elements to consider in stage 2: the landlord’s income and the 
landlord’s track record. Each of these will affect the penalty calculation and further 
details are set out below

Compare the penalty level from Step 3 to 
table 4 and this will give the penalty band 
for the offence. This penalty band 
determines both the starting amount and 
the upper limit for the penalty calculation.

Page 60



Page 11 of 24

2.9 The landlord’s Finances

Although the Council is permitted to consider all of a landlord’s income and assets 
when calculating a civil penalty, full financial investigations will normally only be 
considered for the most serious offences.

For penalties that fall within bands 5 and 5+, a financial investigation of the landlord 
will be usually carried out and all sources of income received by the landlord can be 
considered as ‘relevant income’ for the purpose calculating the civil penalty. 
Specifically the average weekly income for the landlord for the 12 months preceding 
the date of the offence will be used.

For penalties that fall within bands 1 to 4, the landlord’s income will still be 
considered but the ‘relevant income’ will normally be limited to the income that the 
landlord received in relation to the property where the offence occurred.

For property owners, this will be the weekly rental income, as declared on the 
tenancy agreements, for the property where the offence occurred and at the time the 
offence occurred.

For property agents, the relevant income will be any fees they received for the 
management of the property, as stated on the management contract between the 
agent and the other parties to the contract. Where the fees include VAT or any other 
charges, the gross amount of the fees will be used.

IMPORTANT: although the Council will normally consider carrying out a full financial 
investigation where the offence falls within penalty bands 1 to 4, the Council does 
reserve the right to do so where it considers it reasonable and proportionate to the 
circumstances.

2.10 How is the increase as a result of the landlord’s income calculated?

This is a two-step process with step 1 determining what counts as relevant weekly 
income and step 2 determining what percentage of this relevant weekly income 
should be added to the penalty amount. These steps are set out in more detail 
below.

Page 61



Page 12 of 24

Table 5 – Defining relevant weekly income

Penalty Level Relevant Weekly 
Income

 1 Gross rental income 
or management fees 

for the property 
where the offence 

occurred.

 2 As above

3 As above

4 As above

5/5+ All income for the 
offender (carry out a 

financial assessment)

Table 6 - % of relevant weekly income

Penalty Level % of Relevant 
Weekly Income

 1 50% of relevant 
weekly income

 2 100% of relevant 
weekly income

3 150% of relevant 
weekly income

4 250% of relevant 
weekly income

5 400% of relevant 
weekly income

5+ 600% of relevant 
weekly income

Step 1 – take the penalty band as 
determined in Stage 1, and compare it to 
Table 5: this will state what can be 
considered as relevant weekly income for 
the offence.

Step 2 – take the penalty band, as 
determined in Stage 1 and compare it to 
Table 6. This will give the percentage of 
the landlord’s relevant weekly income will 
be added to the civil penalty.

Page 62



Page 13 of 24

2.11 What if tenancy agreements or management contracts are not available?

Tenancy agreements and property management contracts can be requested using 
the Council’s existing powers and this should be done where copies are not already 
available.

In cases where the landlord is not forthcoming with this information or 
documentation, an estimate of the average weekly income will be used instead and it 
will be for the landlord to make representations against this estimated figure if they 
deem it to be too high.

Representations against estimated incomes will only be accepted where sufficient 
evidence of the landlord’s income is provided to support these claims. Estimates of 
average weekly income will be calculated on a case by case basis but they will 
generally be based on an assessment of similar sized rental properties in the same 
area as the property to which the offence relates.

IMPORTANT – the Council will not normally consider a landlord’s assets but does 
reserve the right to consider assets in any cases where the Council considers it 
reasonable and proportionate to do so. Each of these cases will be dealt with on a 
case by case basis.

2.12 The Landlord’s track record

A higher penalty will be appropriate where the landlord has a history of failing to 
comply with their obligations; as such, the track record of the landlord will be an 
important factor in determining the final amount of the civil penalty that is imposed. 
Below are questions that must be asked for each landlord that will receive a civil 
penalty.

1) Has the landlord had any relevant notices, under Part 1 of the Housing Act 
2004, served on them in the last 2 years? If so, how many times have they 
been subject to such enforcement action in that timeframe?

2) Has the landlord had any civil penalties imposed on them in the last 2 years? 
If so, how many civil penalties have been imposed on them in that timeframe?

3) Has the landlord accepted any cautions for relevant offences in the last 2 
years? If so, how many cautions for relevant offences have they accepted in 
that timeframe?

4) Has the landlord been sent a letter, in the last 2 years, which informed them 
that they are now subject to a ‘straight to enforcement action’ approach?

5) Has the landlord owned or managed a property where the term of an existing 
licence for the property, under the Housing Act 2004, was reduced due to 
enforcement action or significant concerns, in the last 2 years?

Page 63



Page 14 of 24

6) Has the landlord breached any relevant notices, which resulted in works in 
default being carried out, in the last 2 years? If so, how many times have 
works in default been carried out under such circumstances in that 
timeframe?

7) Has the landlord owned or managed a property where a licence for the 
property, under the Housing Act 2004, was revoked due to enforcement 
action or significant concerns, in the last 2 years?

8) Has the landlord been prosecuted for any relevant offences in the last 2 
years? If so, how many times have such prosecutions taken place in that 
timeframe?

9) Has the landlord owned or managed a property which was subject to an 
interim management or final management order under the Housing Act 2004 
in the last 2 years?

10)Has the landlord been the subject of a banning order under the Housing and 
Planning Act 2016 in the last 2years?

IMPORTANT – question 1 refers to all relevant notices served during the two years; 
this means that where the offence is failure to comply with an improvement notice, 
that notice should also be included in the answer to the question.

2.13 How is the increase as a result of the Landlord’s track record calculated?

Table 7 – Weightings

Category Weighting

 Category 1(Least serious) 1

 Category 2 (Moderately 
Serious)

5

Category 3 (Very Serious) 10

Category 4 (Most Serious) 20

Any questions where the answer is ‘no’ will have a weighting of zero but ‘yes’ 
answers will accrue the weighting for that particular question. E.g. the weighting for a 
question is 10 and the answer to that question is ‘yes’ so the score for that particular 
question will be 10.

For those questions where the number of occasions is relevant, the total weighting 
for a ‘yes’ answer will be the weighting for that question multiplied by the number of 

Each of the questions will be placed into 
one of four categories, based on the 
seriousness of the offence or enforcement 
action to which the question refers. Each 
category of question is given a weighting 
that increases with the seriousness of the 
category. Table 7 shows the four 
categories and the weighting which is 
applied to each one.

Page 64



Page 15 of 24

occasions. E.g. if a question has a weighting of 5 and the landlord has committed the 
offence 3 times, this will give a total score of 15 for the question. Table 8 shows the 
category which each of the questions falls within and the subsequent weighting that 
is applied as a result.

Table 8 – Questions & Weightings

Questions

Weighting 
for a ‘Yes’ 

answer

Multiplied 
by the 

number of 
occasions?

Has the landlord had any relevant notices, under Part 1 
of the Housing Act 2004, served on them in the last 2 
years?

Has the landlord had any civil penalties imposed on them 
in the last 2 years?

Has the landlord accepted any cautions for relevant 
offences in the last 2 years?

Has the landlord been sent a letter, in the last 2 years, 
which informed them that they are now subject to a 
‘straight to enforcement action’ approach?

1

5

10

5

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Has the landlord owned or managed a property where 
the term of an existing licence for the property, under the 
Housing Act 2004, was reduced due to enforcement 
action or significant concerns, in the last 2 years?

Has the landlord breached any relevant notices which 
resulted in works in default being carried out, in the last 2 
years?

5

10

No

Yes

Has the landlord owned or managed a property where a 
licence for the property, under the Housing Act 2004, was 
revoked due to enforcement action or significant 
concerns, in the last 2 years?

10 No

Has the landlord been prosecuted for any relevant 
offences in the last 2 years?

20 Yes

Has the landlord owned or managed a property which 
was subject to an interim or final management order 
under the Housing Act 2004 in the last 2 years?

20 No

Page 65



Page 16 of 24

Has the landlord been the subject of a banning order 
under the Housing and Planning Act 2016 in the last 
2years?

20 No

Table 9 – % Increase

Score % Score %

 0 0% 21 55%

 1 5% 23 60%

3 10% 25 65%

5 15% 27 70%

7 20% 29 75%

9 25% 31 80%

11 30% 33 85%

13 35% 35 90%

15 40% 37 95%

17 45% 39+ 100%

IMPORTANT – the penalty calculation will never be increased past the upper limit of 
the penalty band: however, where the landlord has a history of non-compliance, it is 
appropriate to factor this into your assessment of their overall culpability. This could 
affect your initial assessment of the appropriate penalty level and lead to a higher 
penalty band being used as the starting point.

Stage 3

Adding Income and Track Records Amounts to the Penalty Band

2.14 Stage 3 Overview

Stage 1 gives the penalty band for the offence and this determines the starting 
amount and the upper limit for the penalty calculation. Stage 2 gives the amount that 
should be added as a result of the landlord’s income and the amount that should be 
added as a result of the landlord’s track record.

Once all the questions have been 
answered, the weighting for each is 
totalled and compared to Table 9: this 
gives the percentage increase that will be 
applied to the penalty amount. The 
increase will be a percentage of the 
starting amount for the penalty band that 
the offence falls within. E.g. the total score 
for the questions is 23 and so the 
corresponding percentage increase in 
Table 9 will be 60%.

Page 66



Page 17 of 24

2.15 How are the figures from stage 1 and stage 2 combined?

To get the amount of the penalty calculation, the two figures from Stage 2 should be 
added to the starting amount for the penalty band. E.g. if the increase for income is 
£500 and the increase due to the landlord’s track record is £1000, these two figures 
are added to the starting amount for the penalty to get the penalty calculation 
amount.

If the amount is calculated, by adding the figures for the landlord’s income and track 
record, is less than the upper limit for the penalty band, then this is the amount that 
will be used. However, if the amount calculated is greater than the upper limit for the 
penalty band, then the upper limit will be used instead.

Stage 4

Financial benefit obtained from committing the offence

2.16 Stage 4 Overview

A guiding principle of civil penalties is that they should remove any financial benefit 
that the landlord may have obtained as a result of committing the offence. This 
means that the amount of the civil penalty imposed should never be less than it 
would reasonably have cost the landlord to comply in the first place.

2.17 How is the financial benefit determined?

Calculating the amount of financial benefit obtained will need to be done on a case 
by case basis but the table below gives some examples of potential financial benefit 
for each of the offences.

Offence Examples of potential financial benefit

Failure to comply with an 
Improvement Notice 
(section 30)

Offences in relation to 
licensing of HMOs 
(section 72)

The cost of any works that were required to comply with 
the improvement notice but which have not been 
removed by works in default.

Rental income whilst the HMO was operating unlicensed 
or where it was occupied by more than the number of 
persons authorised by the licence; the cost of complying 
with any works conditions on the licence; the cost of the 
licence application fee.

Offences in relation to 
licensing of houses under 
Part 3 of the Act (section 
95)

Rental income whilst the property was operating 
unlicensed or where it was occupied by more than the 
number of persons authorised by the licence; the cost of 
complying with any works conditions on the licence, the 

Page 67



Page 18 of 24

cost of the application fee.

Offences of 
contravention of an 
overcrowding notice 
(section 139)

Rental income whilst the property is being occupied in 
contravention of the overcrowding notice.

Failure to comply with 
management regulations 
in respect of HMOs 
(section 234)

The cost of any works that are required to avoid 
breaching the regulations.

2.18 How is financial benefit added to the penalty amount?

The Council will need to be able to prove that financial benefit was obtained before it 
can be included in the civil penalty calculation. However, where it can be proven, the 
amount obtained should be added to the penalty calculation amount from Stage 3 
and this will give the final civil penalty amount that will be imposed on the landlord.

IMPORTANT – where the landlord has obtained financial benefit in the form of rental 
income and this full amount has been added to the total penalty, it will be appropriate 
to take this into consideration when deciding whether or not to pursue a Rent 
Repayment Order. 

Section 3

Imposing a Civil Penalty

3.1 Where is the process for civil penalties set out?

Schedule 9 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 sets out the process which must 
be followed when imposing a civil penalty.

3.2 Notice of Intent

Before imposing a civil penalty on a landlord, the Council must serve a ‘notice of 
intent’ on the landlord in question. This notice must be served within 6 months of the 
last day on which the Council has evidence of the offence occurring. This notice 
must contain the following information:

 The amount of the proposed civil penalty;

 The reasons for proposing to impose a civil penalty, and;

 Information about the Landlord’s right to make representations to the Council.

Page 68



Page 19 of 24

3.3 Representations

Any landlord who is in receipt of a notice of intent has the right to make 
representations against that notice within 28 days of the date on which the notice 
was given. Representations can be against any part of the proposed course of 
action. All representations from landlords will be considered by the Head of Housing 
and Health.

Where a landlord challenges the amount of the civil penalty, it will be for the landlord 
to provide documentary evidence (e.g. tenancy agreements etc.) to show that the 
calculation of the penalty amount is incorrect. Where no such supporting evidence is 
provided, the representation against the amount will not be accepted.

Written responses will be provided to all representations made by the recipients of a 
notice of intent. No other parties have an automatic right to make representations but 
if any are received, they will be considered on a case by case basis and responded 
to where the Council considers it necessary.

3.4 Final Notice

Once the representation period has ended, the Council must decide, taking into 
consideration any representations that were made, whether to impose a civil penalty 
and the final amount of the civil penalty. The final amount of a civil penalty can be a 
lower amount than was proposed in the notice of intent but it cannot be a greater 
amount.

The imposing of a civil penalty involves serving a final notice and this notice must 
contain the following information:

 The amount of the financial penalty;

 The reasons for imposing the penalty;

 Information about how to pay the penalty;

 The period for payment of the penalty;

 Information about rights of appeal, and;

 The consequences of failure to comply with the notice.

The period of payment for the civil penalty must be 28 days beginning with the day 
after that on which the notice was given.

Page 69



Page 20 of 24

3.5 Withdrawing or Amending Notices

At any time, the Council may withdraw a notice of intent or a final notice or reduce 
the amount of a civil penalty. This is done by giving notice in writing to the person on 
whom the notice was served.

Where a civil penalty has been withdrawn, and there is a public interest in doing so, 
the Council can still pursue a prosecution against the landlord for the conduct for 
which the penalty was originally imposed. Each case will be considered on a case by 
case basis.

3.6 Appeals to the Tribunal

If a civil penalty is imposed on a landlord, that landlord can appeal to the First-tier 
Tribunal (“the Tribunal”) against the decision to impose a penalty or the amount of 
the penalty. The Tribunal has the power to confirm, vary (increase or reduce) the 
size of the civil penalty imposed by the Council, or to cancel the civil penalty. Where 
an appeal has been made, this suspends the civil penalty until the appeal is 
determined or withdrawn.

3.7 Payment of a Civil Penalty

A civil penalty must be paid within 28 days, beginning with the day after that on 
which the final notice was given (“the 28 day payment period”), unless that notice is 
suspended due to an appeal. Details of how to pay the penalty will be provided on 
the final notice.

3.8 Other consequences of having a Civil Penalty imposed

Where a civil penalty has been imposed on a landlord, this will form a part of our 
consideration when reviewing licence applications for properties in which they have 
some involvement. This includes licences under Part 2 or Part 3 of the Housing Act 
2004.

Whilst a civil penalty will not automatically preclude us from granting a licence where 
such persons are involved, the reasons for imposing the penalty and the extent of 
the person’s involvement in the property will be considered.

Where a landlord has two civil penalties imposed on them in a 12 month period, 
each for a banning order offence, the Council will include their details on the 
Database of Rogue Landlords and Property Agents.

“Banning order offence” means an offence of a description specified in regulations 
made by the Secretary of State under Section 14(3) of the Housing and Planning Act 
2016.

Page 70



Page 21 of 24

3.9 Recovering an unpaid Civil Penalty

It is the policy of the Council to consider all legal options available for the collection 
of unpaid civil penalties and to pursue unpaid penalties in all cases through the 
county courts. Some of the orders available to the Council through the county courts 
are as follows:

 A Warrant of Control for amounts up to £5000;

 A Third Party Debt Order;

 A Charging Order, and;

 Bankruptcy or insolvency.

A certificate, signed by the Chief Finance Officer for the Council and stating that the 
amount due has not been received by the date of the certificate, will be accepted by 
the courts as conclusive evidence of the payment date.

Where a Charging Order has been made, and the amount of the order is over £1000, 
the Council can consider applying for an Order for Sale against the property or asset 
in question. When considering which properties to apply for a Charging Order 
against, the Council can consider all properties owned by the Landlord and not just 
the property to which the offence relates.

Where the civil penalty was appealed and the Council has a tribunal decision 
confirming or varying the penalty, the decision will be automatically registered on the 
Register of Judgements, Orders and Fines, once accepted by the county court.

Inclusion on this register may make it more difficult for the Landlord to get financial 
credit.

3.10 Income from Civil Penalties

Any income from Civil Penalties is retained by the Local Housing Council which 
imposed the penalty. The Council must spend any income from Civil Penalties on its 
enforcement functions in relation to the private rented sector. Further details can be 
found in Statutory Instrument 367 (2017).

Page 71



Page 22 of 24

Section 4

Worked Examples

4.1 Worked Example 1

Landlord A owns and manages a single family dwelling. During an inspection, 3 
category 1 hazards (Excess Cold, Falls on Stairs and Fire) and 7 category 2 hazards 
were identified at the property. Initially a Hazard Awareness Notice was served was 
served on Landlord A but only some of the works to reduce the hazards were carried 
out. Consequently an Improvement Notice was served on Landlord A for the 
remaining works. This was not complied with. Works in default were carried out at 
the property with a cost of £5,500. The Council has taken no previous enforcement 
action against Landlord A. A financial investigation into Landlord A found that they 
have received an annual income of £40,000.

Offence: Failing to comply with an Improvement Notice.

Culpability: High

Justification: Landlord A was fully aware of the need to comply with the notice and 
the consequences of not doing so.

Seriousness of harm risked: ‘Level A’

Justification: The condition of the main staircase alone created a Category 1 hazard 
and if someone were to trip or fall on the stairs, they could reasonably end up with 
harm outcomes that meet the descriptions of Class 1 and Class 2 harm outcomes 
under the Housing Health & Safety Rating System. This means that the seriousness 
of harm risked meets the description of ‘Level A’.

Penalty band: 5 (£15,000 - £30,000)

Increase due to the landlord’s track record: None

Justification: There is no previous history of enforcement action against Landlord A.

Increase due to the landlord’s income: £3076.92 (400% of the Landlord’s average 
weekly income.

Justification: The penalty band is 5 and therefore a financial investigation was carried 
out to identify all of Landlord A’s income. The investigation found that they received a 
total annual income of £40,000 and 400% of their weekly income will be added to the 
penalty amount. In this case, the average weekly income is £769.23 so 400% of this 
(£3076.92) will be added.

Penalty calculation amount:  £18076.92 (£15,000 + £3076.92).

Page 72



Page 23 of 24

Financial benefit obtained from committing the offence: None

Justification: Works in default have been undertaken at the property and the cost of 
these plus an administration fee, were charged to Landlord A. As such, it cannot be 
said that Landlord A obtained financial benefit from committing the offence.

Final amount of the civil penalty: £18076.92 (£15,000 + £3076.92).

4.2 Worked Example 2

Landlord B owns and manages a Section 257 HMO which consists of 3 self-
contained flats. During a scheduled inspection of the property, it was found that the 
landlord had neglected to display the manager’s details anywhere in the property. 
They were warned about this during the previous inspection but stated that this was 
missed due to an oversight. The landlord has not been subject to any enforcement 
action over the last 2 years. The property was otherwise in satisfactory condition.

Offence: Failing to comply with management regulations in respect of Houses in 
Multiple Occupation.

Culpability: Low

Justification: Landlord B does not have a history of non-compliance and the breach 
was fairly minor and easily rectified.

Seriousness of harm risked: ‘Level C’

Justification: The seriousness of harm risked to the tenants was low and so it would 
not meet the descriptions of harm found in ‘Level A’ or ‘Level B’.

Penalty band: 1 (£600 to £1200)

Increase due to the landlord’s track record: None

Justification: There is no previous history of enforcement action against Landlord B.

Increase due to the landlord’s income: £131.25 (50% of the Landlord’s average 
weekly rental income from the property where the offence occurred.)

Justification: The penalty band is 1 and therefore the relevant income for 
consideration is the weekly rental income received from the property where the 
offence occurred. In this case, the average weekly income is £262.50 so 50% of this 
(£131.25) will be added.

Penalty calculation amount: £731.25 (£600 + £131.25).

Financial benefit obtained from committing the offence: None

Page 73



Page 24 of 24

Justification: The cost of displaying Landlord B’s management details is negligible 
and so it would not be reasonable to claim any financial benefit from the offence.

Final amount of the civil penalty: £731.25 (£600 + £131.25).

Page 74



Page 25 of 24

Allerdale Borough Council
Allerdale House

Workington
Cumbria CA14 3YJ

Tel: 0303 123 1702
Email: housing@allerdale.gov.uk

www.allerdale.gov.uk

PSH Civil Penalties Policy

Version 1.2

February 2018

Please phone (0303 123 1702) if you would like a copy of this 
document in a different format

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 76



1

Summary of responses 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy Consultation 

This consultation opened on 28 February 2018 and closed on 30 March 2018. We 
received 22 completed responses to the consultation, with the majority of 
respondents identifying themselves as private sector landlords.

The consultation was published online through Have your say, Cumbria’s 
consultation and community engagement website and could be accessed via the 
Allerdale Borough Council website. Paper copies of the consultation were made 
available upon request. In order to alert stakeholders to the consultation, an email 
was circulated to representatives of the Registered Providers within Allerdale and 
other relevant agencies such as the Citizens Advice Bureau and Cumbria Law 
Centre. In addition to this, letters were sent to private sector landlords and lettings 
agents and the consultation was publicised through a press release and the 
Council’s pages on social media. A consultation event specifically aimed at private 
sector landlords was also held at Allerdale House, Workington on 15 March 2018. 
This attracted over 50 attendees. 

Please find below the questions asked by the consultation questionnaire and a 
summary of responses received to them. 

Page 77



2

Question 1

We are proposing to change the way we accept complaints from private tenants. In 
most circumstances, the tenant will now be required to put their complaint in writing 
to their landlord and request a reply within 14 days. Template letters will be provided.
If the tenant has not received a satisfactory outcome within this period, 
arrangements will be made to inspect and rate the property using the Housing Health 
and Safety Rating System.

Do you agree with this approach?

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

Not Answered

Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Neither Agree or
Disagree

Agree

Strongly Agree

Option Total Percent
Strongly Agree 13 59.09%
Agree 6 27.27%
Neither Agree or Disagree 0 0%
Disagree 2 9.09%
Strongly Disagree 0 0%
Not Answered 1 4.55%

Comments received;

 “I believe the letter should be by email to the landlord”.
 “We are happy to receive complaints from tenants. In a number of instances 

tenants have went directly to the council complaining about issues before we 
have actually even known about them, this is highly frustrating as this makes 
it look like we are not taking care of our properties and our tenants which we 
always strive to do”.

 “Landlords are in it for the money and most don't care about the welfare of 
their tenants putting the request in writing to them first will just mean they will 
put serious consideration to asking the tenant to leave”.

Page 78



3

 “Response in a timely fashion, where a template is provided is a no brainer 
and if this does not occur then inspection and action will ensue so the 
incentive is there for the landlord to comply”.

 “14 Days is ample time for anyone to reply to a letter”.
 “The house which I now own in partnership with my brother, who lives in 

Cheshire and has little interest in the property, was inherited from my mother, 
who died at the end of December 2017. I have managed the property for her 
while she was resident in Dalton Court Care Home, Cockermouth, for the past 
6 years. In this time we have had two long term tenants, the second of whom 
is still in residence. I strongly believe that a house, whether rented or owned, 
is a persons home and they should view it as such. We always make sure that 
the property is immaculate when they move in and tenants take a pride in 
their rental and look after it”. 

 “This way allows a paper trail of the complaint and a set timescale for the 
issue to be resolved. Failure to comply gives the Council a legitimate reason 
to act”. 

 “Private landlords need to be made to ensure their properties are of the best 
standard”.

 “This method will give the landlord an adequate period of time to respond to 
the tenant and ensure that they have chance to react to the complaint prior to 
the Council becoming involved”.

 “Complaints, whether from private tenants or tenants of Registered Providers, 
should be dealt with in exactly the same way. Online letter template??/ digital 
use as well as hard copy”.

 “Yes, this enables landlords to sort out issues without needing formalities”.
 "Provides clarity of process for all parties”.
 “Encourages tenants to readily do something proactive before they fester in 

resentment and do something damaging - before the landlord has any idea 
there is a problem!"

 “Tenants vary - some can be fantastic, unfortunately they are the ones 
landlords seldom remember. They ask for any repairs, they are done and you 
don't hear from them for ages. Other tenants are a law unto themselves, often 
cause damage or decay by under heating or under ventilating properties and 
believe they can blame everything on the landlord. Usually claiming they have 
informed us on multiple occasions yet we have never received a letter, email, 
text or even a missed call relating to the matter. Often to date with these 
tenants, the initial contact from the Environmental Health department is the 
first we have heard of an issue. As was a recent case in point”.

 “As a landlady I fully approve of any requests being dealt with quickly”.
 “Will the tenant have a responsibility to respond to the Housing teams 

advice/actions?”
 “However 14 day period should be extended to 28. What if for example, the 

landlord is on holiday?”

Page 79



4

Question 2

We are proposing to change the way we deal with complaints from tenants of 
Registered Providers. These organisations employ staff to manage and maintain 
their properties and will usually have written arrangements for reporting problems, 
setting out the response times they aim to achieve, and detailing the process for 
registering any complaints about service failure.

On this basis, unless there are exceptional circumstances, complaints against 
Registered Providers will initially be classed as low risk and will initially be dealt with 
in writing, without a formal inspection being undertaken.

Do you agree with this approach? 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Not Answered

Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Neither Agree or
Disagree

Agree

Strongly Agree

Option Total Percent
Strongly Agree 5 22.73%
Agree 6 27.27%
Neither Agree or Disagree 3 13.64%
Disagree 5 22.73%
Strongly Disagree 2 9.09%
Not Answered 1 4.55%

Comments received;

 “Again email is better with a deadline to respond”
 “I can see that this also makes sense”
 “Why do they get side lined? Surely you shouldn't downgrade the complaints 

when it involves a business or person's livelihood?”
 “Putting complaints down as low risk smacks of trying to bury your head in the 

sand as this could extend the time for the issues could be looked in to and 

Page 80



5

inspections and enforcement carried out in a timely fashion all complaints 
should be read and issues acted upon with an appeal of decision process”

 “As a private landlord, I'm not sure about the above statement as I do not 
employ staff, but have to find maintenance people to carry out repair work. I 
do go the extra mile to keep my tenants happy” 

 “A rental property should be managed properly and the tenant cared for in a 
proper manner” 

 "It is probably not robust enough and will allow some registered providers to 
continue to fail in their level of service and the speed at which the carry it out. 
Perhaps no inspection needs to take place but something else that just 
reminds them of their obligations like a written reminder from the Council 
when an event like this is triggered”

 “A shot across the bows to be followed by stronger action if the first letter has 
no effect”

 “Whilst I believe that all landlords should be treated equally, regardless of size 
of portfolio, I understand from the consultation event that complaints received 
by the Council for RP properties tend to be regarding low risk issues. For this 
reason I support this approach as I feel it is important that given the small 
team, they are able to concentrate efforts on the worst landlords”

 “Complaints against any organisation or private landlord should be dealt with 
the same”

 “Why should "Registered" providers not be treated the same as private 
sector?”

 “Not really relevant is in private sector”
 “This assumes these providers have and follow well designed procedures.

But if they don't, then due to the size of their provision, lots of tenants 
(probably those less able to argue a case for themselves) will be 
disadvantaged before you take action. This compares with the small number 
of tenants affected by a rogue private landlord”

 “As mentioned some tenants have unrealistic expectations in terms of 
timescales or depending on the amount of "works" required this must be 
planned and scheduled in”

 “Landlords should be responsible”
 “Why do they need to be different to Private Landlords? i.e. will they still be 

served an Improvement Notice?”
 “Registered providers should be at least as well "policed" as other landlords. 

Some Housing Association properties are in an awful state”

Page 81



6

Question 3

Where an inspection shows a Category 1 hazard to be present, the Council has a 
duty to take action. If the hazard(s) presents no imminent risk to health, this would 
usually be achieved through the service of a Hazard Awareness Notice, for which 
there is no charge.

However, it should be noted that the service of a Hazard Awareness Notice does not 
provide tenants with protection from retaliatory eviction under the Deregulation Act 
2015.

If the owner fails to take action in the specified time, an Improvement Notice will be 
served, for which there is a charge. Service of an Improvement Notice does provide 
tenants with some protection from retaliatory eviction, providing other steps have 
been followed.

Do you agree with this approach? 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Not Answered

Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Neither Agree or
Disagree

Agree

Strongly Agree

Option Total Percent
Strongly Agree 7 31.82%
Agree 7 31.82%
Neither Agree or Disagree 4 18.18%
Disagree 3 13.64%
Strongly Disagree 0 0%
Not Answered 1 4.55%

Comments received;

 “Again this makes total sense. Category 1 hazards do happen in all properties 
and should be addressed as quickly as possible, if the landlord does not do 
this then action needs to be taken. One slight worry I would have is where 

Page 82



7

tenants are causing mould through condensation (or some other incident) 
which can happen quite often in older terrace properties that are air tight. One 
scenario which would be worrying is if you have a problem tenant deliberately 
causing a cat 1 hazard which is hard to rectify and using this to remain in the 
property - they will also often deny access for things to be repaired. I would 
like to think councils will work with landlords in such instances”

 “The tenant should have protection right from the start of the submission of 
complaint with regards to the hazard. All private landlords should be required 
to register and their tenants too”

 “Who pays the charge how much is this and this should be set out clearly  on 
the  Allerdale website” 

 “I believe my tenants should live in a safe and secure environment”
 “I let the property through an agent in Cockermouth and any suggestion they 

make regarding safety etc is always dealt with immediately” 
 “So long as the risk is not a health hazard”
 “As a landlord I appreciate being given the opportunity to resolve issues 

informally without receiving a legal notice. However it does concern me that 
this does not allow tenants protection from more unscrupulous landlords who 
may choose to evict anybody who dares to complain”

 “Surely to give the tenant protection from retaliatory eviction when the hazard 
awareness notice has been served, an Improvement Notice should be served 
at the same time. If the charge is discretionary then not implemented unless 
the landlord doesn't carry out the improvements”

 “Depends on what the hazard is and if it is down to the tenant or the landlord”
 “Offers a sensible compromise between risk and cost”
 “Making a landlord aware that there is an issue and setting out a reasonable 

timescale to remove or rectify this hazard is the most fair and proper 
approach. Only if no action is taken by the landlord should further notice then 
be required”

 “Landlords should be responsible for their properties at all times. Hopefully 
good landlords will rise to the top and bad landlords will be forced to improve 
properties in their care”

 “I want tenants to be protected from Rogue Landlords. A 'warning' system 
might be fairer to good landlords. Hazard Awareness Notice that the tenant is 
still not happy and it's heading that way! Agree with the gentleman that 
suggested 'zero' charges for IN and HAN being served at the same time”

 “What is the change to be? What notice period is allowed?”

Page 83



8

Question 4

The Housing and Planning Act 2016 gave local housing authorities the power to 
impose civil penalties of up to £30,000 as an alternative to prosecution for certain 
offences.

If the Council believes that it has a reasonable prospect of conviction in a particular 
case, it will always consider a civil penalty, rather than prosecution, in the first 
instance.

Do you agree with this approach? 

0 2 4 6 8 10

Not Answered

Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Neither Agree or
Disagree

Agree

Strongly Agree

Option Total Percent
Strongly Agree 8 36.36%
Agree 9 40.91%
Neither Agree or Disagree 0 0%
Disagree 4 18.18%
Strongly Disagree 0 0%
Not Answered 1 4.55%

Comments received;

 “You must give a landlord a reasonable time to comply. Landlord aren't the 
bad guys, they are just trying to provide for their retirement. Sometimes new 
rules imposed very costly changes for landlords which are not easily paid for. 
The threat of a big fine would be enough to make a landlord sell their property 
instead of deal with the stress”

 “This is slightly worrying to me. In no way do I refer to Allerdale as I have 
actually only had one dealing so far with Allerdale council and still await the 
response - I have had however other dealings in other local authorities and 
sometimes I have seen quite clever tenants who will game the system and try 

Page 84



9

and turn councils against their landlords after they have had a falling out.  In 
the areas I operate I now know most councils and they know we are 
extremely fair operators and offer a good standard of property but as an 
example when we first purchased properties in one area we did have an 
environmental health officer who seemed to make it a personal crusade to 
take a tenants word over my own, I did actually complain directly to the 
council regarding this as I had clear evidence where they were in the wrong.  
This is what would worry me as I think we would need clarity of how exactly 
this system would work, who would administer it, appeals process etc. The 
devil is in the detail. Obviously penalties are needed for people who will not 
fall in line and look after their tenants/properties but this needs to be a fair 
system for all”

 “I believe in prosecution rather than the fine as otherwise it just appears to be 
a money making scheme for the council. Serial offenders should have the 
house eventually confiscated and the council rent it to the tenants”

 “As long as all steps are laid out to the tenant and they are not giving the 
"mushroom treatment” while all this happens”

 “I believe and have been told I'm an excellent landlord, I keep my properties in 
excellent condition and adhere to all safety and maintenance regulations that I 
am aware of. Therefore I have no concerns about the above proposal”

 “If a property is managed properly and a tenant is content with their home, 
then these issues should not arise”

 “I would assume that the operation costs are taken from these fines”
 “I feel this will act as a greater deterrent to the worst landlords”
 “Keep costs down”
 “Fine is far too high for a private landlord”
 “Permits enforcement without a criminal record for the landlord, useful when 

there are mitigating circumstances that have affected the landlord's ability to 
respond”

 “Predominantly this is a last resort fine, for failing to take action after 
numerous warnings and communications. Although the financial penalty might 
be slightly higher than would be awarded by prosecution, this approach 
ironically still benefits the landlord as they would not be facing any form of 
public criminal prosecution, it is a civil fine” 

 “If properties are not safe for tenants because of blatant neglect action should 
be taken”

 “Agreed with what the presenter said - very well presented”
 “Obviously civil penalty is more sensible than prosecution (not least due to 

pressure on prisons). Would like to know a bit more about certain offences"

Page 85



10

Question 5

The Council is required to adopt a policy that details how it will determine the 
appropriate level of civil penalty in each particular case.

Do you agree that the method we introduce in our draft civil penalties policy is 
an appropriate way to calculate the level of a financial penalty? 

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

Not Answered

Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Neither Agree or
Disagree

Agree

Strongly Agree

Option Total Percent
Strongly Agree 4 18.18%
Agree 12 54.55%
Neither Agree or Disagree 2 9.09%
Disagree 3 13.64%
Strongly Disagree 0 0%
Not Answered 1 4.55%

Comments received;

 “Yes but it the question is too vague”
 “I am unsure about which method you will introduce. Is there any information 

on this one?”
 “I don't agree with the penalty”
 “As long as the policy is fit for purpose”
 “The document looks after the interests of the tenants and the property at the 

same time is fair to any responsible landlord”
 “I have already given my views regarding rental properties. I was a tenant in a 

property for 30 years and cared for it as if it was my own. When the landlord 
decided to sell I was evicted from my home. I would never do this to a tenant”

 “It seems open and transparent and the case studies clearly show how a fine 
is calculated. I hope that I never have to experience it!”

 “The proposal is very complicated”

Page 86



11

 “Seems very fair!!”
 “Meets the need to be thorough, objective, transparent and fair”
 “Whilst the subject is not a pleasant one for landlords, figures must be drawn 

from somewhere and must be transparent. Cases may be tested nationally 
over time and reasonable amounts and guidance issued in future”

 “Not sure I agree with the working out of the charge but as discussed being an 
accredited landlord should abdicate bad landlords if properly carried out”

 “From Q4 - if what is presented is workable then seems like a good idea”
 “Seems excessively high. Although none of these issues should affect me or 

my friends who are responsible landlords, one cannot help being concerned 
at the threat implied”

Page 87



12

Question 6

Any other comments?

 “Is there a website easily accessed by landlords and tenants to find out what 
the standards should be?”

 “I must say on the whole all the councils we deal with are very fair.  They do 
understand both the landlords side and the tenants, they will listen to reason 
as long as you communicate what is happening and the issues you face”

 “If the council can't look after their own tenants, how do we expect them to 
look after private tenants. Seems like it is just a way to impose fines and make 
money”

 “I personally think anyone who rents property out should have those 
properties registered as rental and inspected on a regular basis with a 
certificate of compliance issued, I would be happy to pay a small fee for such 
a scheme. Such a scheme would also help tenants make a better choice of 
where they would like to live”

 “It is time to make private landlords responsible”
 “I would like to thank you for the invite to the consultation event a couple of 

weeks ago. I found the presentation excellent, very professional! Questions 
were clearly and thoroughly answered. It was the first time I had cause to 
have dealings with Council staff and I found the young lady to be very friendly 
and approachable. I look forward to attending other events in the future!”

 “Re: the enforcement policy, there is some mis-wording in the top paragraph    
of page 10, and money figures missing from page 18
Re: the civil penalties document:
Para 1.1 needs further clarification about the equivalents specified to the term 
""landlord"".
In section 2.9, the first and last paragraphs are inconsistent"

 “Perhaps look at rationalising Council Tax discount on empty properties 
(between tenancies) across all the Cumbria districts. Re Energy Efficiency 
Regulations. Grants have been granted to tenants who are on disability/ 
certain benefits and where the property has a low rating. Why not push for a 
scheme that the grant can go to the landlords to replace storage radiators with 
a gas or electric central heating system making the property more energy 
efficient?”

 “Fund landlord’s energy works please. Allow zero Council Tax when property 
vacant between lets for a period to allow landlords to refurb and prepare for 
the next letting. Landlord’s starter/info pack. Encourage tenants to put the 
heating on and open windows to ventilate my property to avoid damage from 
damp/condensation”

 “Grants to enable landlords to meet the requirements would obviously help. 
Also to enable empty homes to be brought back into use”

 “Good to read about a comprehensive and constructive process of review. 
Thanks for clarifying it for us!”

 “As with most long term arrangements, relationships with landlords require 
building. Discretion is useful with both timescales and the level of prosecution 
or fine the Council wishes to pursue. The approach of first serving a hazard 
awareness notice without triggering the tenant protection of retaliatory eviction 
is very, very useful, particularly in the circumstances where it is most likely the 

Page 88



13

tenant has created the hazard e.g. removal of fire detecting equipment, 
inadequately heating properties etc.!”

 “Re empty properties: Universal credit - some tenants have caused Landlords 
problems, and now I can't let to UC tenants because the insurance company 
won't allow landlord to!”
“Make grants available to landlords re improving energy efficiency. Who 
checks gas safety certificate? Electrical safety report?”

 “Would really like to know how the Council plans to ""regulate"" the rogue 
landlords whom we all know exist (and some of whom we can identify) - but 
who will not be at this meeting! More and more regulation makes life harder 
for us but causes no difficultly for them because they ignore the rules!”

 “Reinstate empty property nil rate Council Tax for landlords between 
tenancies. Look at availability of grants for landlords to improve properties”

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 90



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive - 18 April 2018

Response to BEIS consultations on a Geological Disposal Facility

The Reason for the Decision To consider responding to two 
Government consultations relating to 
their proposed siting process for a 
geological disposal facility.

Summary of options considered There are only two options – respond or 
not.  Whatever process the Government 
use for finding a site will impact on 
Allerdale, so it makes sense to respond. 

Recommendations It is recommended that Members 
consider the draft responses attached 
and agree that they may be submitted to 
BEIS, amended as necessary.

Financial /  Resource Implications There are no financial or resource 
implications from responding to these 
consultations.

Legal / Governance Implications Under the Local Government Act 2000 
and associated legislation, together with 
the authority’s constitution, responding to 
these consultations is an Executive 
decision.

Community Safety Implications There are no community safety 
implications from responding to these 
consultations.

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

There are no health and safety and risk 
management implications from 
responding to these consultations.

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

There are no equality issues arising from 
responding to these consultations.

Wards Affected Any responses would be on behalf of all 
wards, but as Government is only 
consulting on a possible process, no 
wards are affected at this time.

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

Responding to these consultations has 
no direct impact on the Council priorities.

Page 91

Agenda Item 7



Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Alan Smith

Lead Officer Richard Griffin
Policy Manager - Nuclear

richard.griffin@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications

Community Safety N Financial N
Legal N Partnership N
Social Inclusion N Asset Management N
Equality Duty N Health and Safety N
Employment (internal) N Employment 

(external to the Council)
N

Background Papers – BEIS consultation documents on the National Policy 
Statement for a GDF (www.beisgovuk.citizenspace.com/civil-nuclear-resilience/gdf-
nps/) and “Working with Communities” (https://beisgovuk.citizenspace.com/civil-
nuclear-resilience/gdf-wwc/)

1.0 Introduction

1.1 On 25 January 2018, BEIS launched two consultations relating to their revised 
siting process for a Geological Disposal Facility (GDF).  The first is entitled the 
“Draft National Policy Statement for Geological Disposal Infrastructure” and 
the second sets out how they are planning on “Working with Communities”.  

1.2 The draft National Policy Statement (NPS) provides planning guidance for 
developers of nationally significant infrastructure projects on geological 
disposal infrastructure.  This is defined as the geological disposal facility itself, 
along with any associated surface facilities, and any borehole investigations 
necessary to characterise the geology of a particular site.  The NPS has been 
informed by an Appraisal of Sustainability, which has been carried out on the 
policy and is attached to the consultation document, and assessed against all 
relevant “Habitat” regulations. 

1.3 In terms of working with communities, BEIS believes that the previous 
process put pressure on decision makers to provide their explicit support 
before they had all the information they felt they needed to allow them to 
properly determine whether they wanted to move into the next stage of the 
siting process.  They feel that they have removed that pressure by removing 

Page 92

http://www.beisgovuk.citizenspace.com/civil-nuclear-resilience/gdf-nps/
http://www.beisgovuk.citizenspace.com/civil-nuclear-resilience/gdf-nps/
https://beisgovuk.citizenspace.com/civil-nuclear-resilience/gdf-wwc/
https://beisgovuk.citizenspace.com/civil-nuclear-resilience/gdf-wwc/


staged decision making and allowing communities to stay involved in the 
process up and until such time as they may wish to undertake a final test of 
public support.

2.0 Content (to include alternative options considered)

2.1 There are only two options, we either respond or we do not.  There is no 
impact on the Authority from either option, but given our extensive experience 
of these issues from our involvement in the last process and from our close 
proximity to the Sellafield site, it would seem to be a wasted opportunity if we 
were not to respond.  While there are two separate consultation documents 
and processes, the issues are clearly linked and many of our comments apply 
equally to both exercises.

2.2 As usual with such exercises, there are some specific questions that BEIS 
would welcome our views on and these are tackled in the attached draft 
responses.  However, there are a number of general over-arching comments 
that also need to be made and these are explained here:

 Both consultation documents fail to recognise the key role that West Cumbria 
has played, and continues to play, in relation to managing the UK’s nuclear 
legacy.  Much is made in the documents about the importance of identifying a 
host community for a GDF, but no mention is made of the role already being 
played by Copeland as the host for the Sellafield site and Allerdale as the 
neighbouring authority.  However this process moves forward, we are affected 
and yet, the focus is entirely on the GDF host community who will receive all 
of the benefits and any necessary infrastructure investment that is associated 
with the development.  While it is understandable that Government wants to 
open up this process to as wide an area as possible, it is ridiculous to pretend 
that all areas are starting from the same position or that they are all equally 
affected.  It also a mistake to not try to gain the maximum benefit from the 
vast experience and knowledge that this community has from over 70 years of 
“hosting” the UK’s largest nuclear facility.  

 There is a need for greater clarity.  The consultation documents are vague in 
relation to a number of key aspects of the proposals.  There is a need to 
better define a number of terms (such as “Community” or “Search Area”), to 
tighten up the language used and to remove ambiguities (for example in 
relation to the role of local government).  

 The final proposals must also set out more clearly the socio-economic 
benefits and dis-benefits to any community of involvement. The previous 
MRWS process in West Cumbria failed for a variety of reasons. These 
included a lack of trust in the UK Government, and in particular H.M. 
Treasury, and their commitment to delivering the scale of investment initially 
promised.  The consultation documents do not demonstrate in a convincing 
way that the proposed process has fully taken on board the issues that led to 
the failure of the MRWS. 

Page 93



 The role of local authorities.  The Foreword for the Working with Communities 
consultation states that ‘previous approaches were not able to secure and 
sustain the necessary level of local support’, and that to be successful this 
time there is a need to develop an ‘open and transparent site selection 
process that engages constructively with willing communities’.  While we 
would agree that the engineering, technological and geological challenges in 
delivering a GDF are undoubtedly significant. The greater challenges to a 
successful siting process relate to local politics, socio-economics and 
engagement.  Any successful siting process must therefore recognise the 
unique role, importance and expertise of local government.

3.0 Recommendations

3.1 It is recommended that Members consider the two draft responses attached 
and agree that they may be submitted to BEIS amended as necessary.

Richard Griffin
Policy Manager Nuclear

Page 94



By email to: GDFlanduseplanning@beis.gov.uk 

Date:  19th April 2018

Dear Sir or Madam,

National Policy Statement (NPS) for Geological Disposal infrastructure – 
response to consultation by the UK Government

1. Introduction

Allerdale Borough Council is grateful for the opportunity to comment on this 
consultation and the related one on “Working With Communities”.  We were a key 
partner in the former Managing Radioactive Waste Safely (MRWS) process and 
have been working with other local authorities under the umbrella of NuLeAF since 
that last process came to an end.  We welcome the recognition in the 2014 White 
Paper that (a) the siting process has to be based on voluntarism; (b) that all tiers of 
local government have a significant role to play across the entire siting process; and 
(c) that the GDF will only proceed if a community gives their consent in a Test of 
Support late in the process.

We feel that both consultation documents fail to recognise the key role that West 
Cumbria has played, and continues to play, in relation to managing the UK’s nuclear 
legacy.  Much is made in the documents about the importance of identifying a host 
community for a GDF, but no mention is made of the role already being played by 
Copeland as the host for the Sellafield site and Allerdale as the neighbouring 
authority.  However this process moves forward, we are affected and yet, the focus 
is entirely on the GDF host community who will receive all of the benefits and any 
necessary infrastructure investment that is associated with the development.  While 
we understand Government’s desire to open up this process to as wide an area as 
possible, it is ridiculous to pretend that all areas are starting from the same position 
or that they are all equally affected.  It also seems to us to be a mistake to not try to 
gain the maximum benefit from the vast experience and knowledge that this 
community has from over 70 years of “hosting” the UK’s largest nuclear facility.      

Local authorities are democratically elected bodies at the heart of every community, 
with responsibility for land use and waste planning, transportation, emergency 
planning and sustainable development. Councils also have expertise in economic 
development and regeneration; and skills in community engagement, outreach, 
education and the support of community networks.  It is therefore critical that the 
NPS processes work within a framework of local accountability and engagement, 
closely involving local authorities and citizens. 

2. General Comments

The Planning Act 2008 established a new development consent process for 
Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIPs) based around a single 
Development Consent Order (DCO). 

Page 95



This process can be applied to large scale developments in energy, transport, waste 
and water. We accept the validity of the decision by the UK Government to designate 
the development of a GDF as an NSIP – it is of appropriate scale and significance 
and is a project that impacts on the management of radioactive waste at a national 
level. 

That said, this NPS has certain distinct characteristics. It is non-site-specific and 
therefore has to focus on high level assessment principles against which 
development consent processes will be considered. It also requires that the 
developer must obtain separate licenses and permits from the nuclear regulators 
before development can proceed. Finally, it must run effectively alongside the work 
with communities that will be essential to success. 

All these factors require a bespoke approach that places a strong emphasis on local 
engagement compared to, for example, ports or renewable energy developments 
where the NPS covers several proposals. The planning aspects of the GDF siting 
process must be driven by the highest standards of safety and intergenerational 
equity, drawing on the clearest scientific, technical and geological information 
available.

We strongly believe that the unique nature of a GDF, and the commitments made to 
community engagement and a final Test of Support, mean that there must be active 
and effective collaboration with local authorities throughout this process. We do not 
believe that at present the link between the NPS and the local siting process, likely to 
involve several ‘volunteer’ communities, is adequately reflected in this draft. There is 
a need for the NPS to clearly map out and explain how the local siting and 
development consent processes will interact within individual areas.

We would highlight two areas where the draft NPS needs to be strengthened:

i. Under Section 60 of the Planning Act, local planning authorities will have the 
scope to prepare local impact reports on the development (1.1.3). These 
must be given proper weight in considerations by the Secretary of State, 
but local impacts reports are only prepared at a relatively late stage in the 
process. The emphasis therefore needs to be on the promoter to engage 
much more during the pre-application stage to provide local authorities 
with the information, time and support needed to inform the local impact 
reports. The NPS should make clear reference to this.

ii. This NPS is very light on the pre-application process with regard to local 
authorities, mentioning only that local authorities highlight the impact on 
land use.  The role of local authorities is much broader and the NPS 
should note this. It needs to set a framework for the decision maker to 
ascertain whether the right pre-application consultation has been 
undertaken to enable the Secretary of State (SoS) to accept the consultant 
report under Section 37 (s.37).  

This NPS consultation process is being managed by BEIS, not the Ministry for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). We have long argued that 
a critical weakness in the approach to radioactive waste planning issues is the 

Page 96



disconnection between the land use planning system for conventional waste and that 
for radioactive waste. It is vital that, in relation to the GDF, there is effective cross-
departmental working between BEIS and MHCLG throughout the progress of the 
NPS process.

3. Response to consultation questions

Draft National Policy Statement

1. Chapter 3 - Does the draft NPS provide suitable direction to the Planning 
Inspectorate and Secretary of State on the need for geological disposal 
infrastructure?

Allerdale supports geological disposal, supported by appropriate monitoring and 
retrievability and the need to consider any alternative solutions that may become 
available.  

The section on the need for a GDF does note:
 The recommendations of the Committee on Radioactive Waste 

Management (CoRWM)
 The fact that geological disposal is agreed to be the best way forward by 

all countries, with the exception of Scotland, and
 The support for this policy provided by the EU Spent Fuel and Radioactive 

Waste Directive.

However, we believe greater clarity is required. The Planning Act 2008 states that 
‘A national policy statement must give reasons for the policy set out in the 
statement’ s.5(7). The NPS says a GDF is needed because this was previously 
identified (largely in the 2014 White Paper). We do not believe that this is 
sufficient.

To help understanding, we would suggest that additional information should be 
provided within Chapter 3:

 It would be useful to provide more explanation on how the multiple barrier 
approach would be expected to prevent harmful levels of radioactivity 
reaching the surface, and over what timescales.

 The NPS should illustrate the present distribution of HAW within the UK 
and set out the urgent need to clean up high hazard facilities at Sellafield. 
It should note the role played by all communities across the country that 
currently play host to HAW stores and that the great majority of HAW, 
including the most hazardous material, is currently located at Sellafield 
and will remain there until a GDF is constructed. 

 The NPS should demonstrate in more detail why the GDF is seen as the 
best solution to this issue, and how this will continue to be reviewed, with 
other alternative solutions considered applying a Best Available 
Techniques (BAT) approach. A decision maker should have guidance on 
the scope of the issues that an applicant will need to demonstrate.

 The NDA’s current work on options for the near surface disposal of some 
of the HAW inventory should be explained along with the likely impact of 
this on proposals for a GDF. Discussion of near surface disposal may lead 

Page 97



to a degree of uncertainty among potential host communities as to what 
they are being asked to accept.

 More information should be provided on the current interim storage 
measures being taken (3.2.4). This should include the expected lifetime of 
current stores, as well as the impacts that interim storage has on host sites 
and the process by which waste will be moved from where it is now and 
emplaced within the GDF.

 More information should be provided on why the retrievability of wastes is 
not viewed as appropriate.

2. Chapter 4 – Do the assessment criteria adequately address the 
principles that the developer, the Planning Inspectorate and the 
Secretary of State should take into account in an application for 
development consent? If not, what further information on the 
assessment criteria is required?

As Section 4 accepts, the development of a GDF will have significant impacts on 
the environment, economy and communities. There must be clear principles to 
guide the design, environmental impacts, health, safety and security aspects of 
the development. 

We note the Assessment Principles in Table 1 (page 29) and in general accept 
these cover the required areas. One area where there is a lack of clarity is in 
relation to any additional uses that may be associated with a GDF.  The NPS 
appears to assume that there would be a single use. However, it is not clear 
whether the GDF might also include low level waste storage or a (re)packaging 
operation, for example, or indeed, whether it may include facilities such as a 
combined heat and power (CHP) plant.  Such uses would affect the assessment 
criteria. It would also be helpful if this NPS were to state whether or not there is a 
relationship with the overarching National Policy Statement on Energy (EN-1).

The draft NPS does not provide enough information for a decision maker to 
understand the scope of reasonable alternatives for this project and associated 
works. The NPS must be clearer on the extent to which the promoter needs to 
consider alternative locations in its assessment of reasonable alternatives. This is 
challenging in this context given that the White Paper is clear that only 
communities that choose to enter the siting process and approve it through the 
Test of Support can be potential hosts for a GDF. Greater clarity is also needed 
as to what alternatives would be considered if only one community enters the 
siting process or chooses to accept the development through the Test of Support.

The Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA), Appraisal of Sustainability (AoS) 
and the Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA), along with the associated 
Health Impact Assessment (HIA) must be given significant weight and be used to 
help guide the development in ways that minimise adverse environmental 
impacts. 

Regarding the Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA), we note the statement 
that if a GDF development might have an adverse impact on a European site that 
development consent could still be granted where there are:

Page 98



 No feasible alternatives
 Imperative reasons
 Adequate and timely compensation measures in place.

While we accept that this complies with the requirements of HRA, we feel that it is 
highly unlikely in reality that there would be no feasible alternatives. There is 
scope for locating the headworks a significant distance from the underground 
operations, greatly reducing the need to impact on protected sites.

We agree with the proposed criteria for ‘good design’ of the facilities (4.5) and 
that the design should not just observe regulatory requirements but be ‘attractive, 
durable and adaptable’ (4.5.5) and underpinned by sustainable development 
principles. Any facilities developed should seek not just to ‘minimise adverse 
impacts’ (4.5.7) but aim to be exemplars of good practice.

Given the long time over which the GDF will operate, we welcome the clear 
statement on climate change adaptation (4.6). Given the nature of the facility, it is 
right that the impact of high impact, low likelihood scenarios are considered fully 
and that a risk averse approach is adopted. (4.6.10).

Management of surface water also needs further definition.  The NPS is rightly 
focused on flood risk and coastal change and water quality but the management 
of surface water should be listed.  Para.4.7.9 relates to pollution but it should also 
include linkages to wider flood risk and coastal management strategies.  There 
might be scope for the project – through use of rock for defence measures for 
example – to support wider mitigation measures.

3. Chapter 5 – Does the draft NPS appropriately cover the impacts of 
geological disposal infrastructure and potential options to mitigate 
those impacts? Please provide reasons to support your answer.

We believe that this section addresses many of the likely impacts of geological 
disposal infrastructure and sets out reasonable options to mitigate against them. 
We welcome the statement of the need to take account of the links between 
different impacts, e.g. between transport, air quality and noise (5.1.2).

One area that is not addressed is the management of material (rock and soil) 
generated from construction of the surface facilities and the underground vaults. 
This is likely to be significant and a statement should be included. It would be 
helpful if developers were required to consider in their Site Waste Management 
Plans whether they consider the waste produced during construction - where this 
cannot be re-used or retained on site - can be accommodated within the host 
authority or whether they will be relying on waste management facilities from a 
neighbouring authority.

More information is also required on the transport infrastructure impacts of a GDF 
during construction and operational phases. Developers should be required to 
demonstrate that there is sufficient capacity within the local transport 
infrastructure at an early, pre-application phase. If significant new transport 
infrastructure is required to support the GDF then this must be included in the 

Page 99



proposals from the outset and placed in the public domain prior to submission of 
any application for development consent. Transportation of radioactive waste 
from where it is currently stored to the GDF is another significant consideration 
and one that is likely to generate much public interest. This should be addressed 
in the text.

Across all impacts, we believe that more weight should be given not just to 
meeting legislative standards and to mitigation, but in encouraging the use of 
innovative techniques that help deliver the GDF as an exemplar of good and 
sustainable practice. For example:

 The material generated from a GDF development (soil and rock) could 
have potential to be used for innovative landscaping or the creation of new 
habitats or recreational facilities.

 While we welcome the statement that the Secretary of State should give 
air quality substantial weight. (5.2.11), we would suggest that the aim 
should not just be to meet existing targets but to strive for the lowest 
possible levels of air pollution, given the increasing evidence about the 
adverse health impacts of even low levels of certain pollutants.

Allerdale believes that a GDF should deliver substantial direct and indirect socio-
economic benefits for any host community (5.7) and also properly consider 
demographic impacts and the needs of all minority and marginalised groups.

The NPS is right that applicants should describe existing socio-economic 
conditions in consultation with those affected and show how the development’s 
socio-economic impacts correlate with local planning policy (5.7.4). It is also right 
that applicants should assess any likely positive and negative socio-economic 
impacts (5.7.5).

We believe that section 5.7 should be strengthened to help maximise the 
employment and other gains for the host community. In 5.7.2, we believe that the 
developer should seek to maximise both employment and training - at present it 
simply states that they should consider the ‘likely requirements for training.’  The 
developer should not just ‘work with local resources and organisations to ensure 
employment opportunities … are effectively communicated,’ but should look to 
recruit locally wherever possible, and adopt an approach to help support 
marginalised groups and individuals gain employment. A skills engagement 
strategy for construction and operation should be proposed. This should include 
local authorities, which have a significant responsibility for 16-19 education.

In considering socio-economic impacts, the document seems to focus narrowly 
on the positive impacts of job creation and the negative pressure on infrastructure 
caused by an influx of new people. We believe that a wider assessment of 
impacts should be included. For example, a new development such as a GDF, 
while creating new employment opportunities, may also result in a labour 
shortage for existing industries in an area. The developer should therefore be 
required to take this into account and consider what skills and training should be 
provided to enable the remaining local workforce to fill other vacancies in the 
community. 

Page 100



We would also welcome a clear statement of the Government’s commitment to 
the range of other support intended to boost the local economy throughout the 
siting process, including the substantial investment in the community selected as 
the site of the GDF. The developer should work with the Government and 
Community Partnership to ensure that an integrated approach to investment and 
employment is taken, to deliver the maximum benefit possible.

Appraisal of Sustainability; Habitats Regulations Assessment

4. Chapter 5 – Do you agree with the findings (of ‘likely significant effects’) 
from the Appraisal of Sustainability Report and the recommendations 
for enhancing the positive effects of the draft NPS? Please provide 
reasons to support your answer.

Given the large scale and sensitive nature of a GDF development and associated 
boreholes, the Appraisal of Sustainability (AoS) is of great importance. This 
particular AoS is challenging due to the non-site-specific nature of the planned 
developments, limiting the ability to determine quantitative impacts. We accept 
this largely qualitative assessment is all that is possible at this stage, but would 
stress the need for a detailed quantitative appraisal of impacts and mitigations 
once individual sites have come forward.

As the consultation draft NPS notes, the AoS meets the requirements of the 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Directive (4.2) while also appraising 
wider sustainable development impacts. We welcome this. The communities that 
could enter the siting process may currently suffer from a degraded natural 
environment and/or be in need of regeneration. Appraising the social, economic 
and environmental impacts of the potential development, in an integrated way, is 
the correct approach.

The AoS objectives and associated questions cover most key sustainability 
issues. There is nothing though on the democratic and participative aspects of 
the process, something that is particularly important in this context.

The AoS has appraised current policy and two alternatives, namely a non-site-
specific NPS that includes exclusionary criteria, and no NPS. The draft NPS 
including exclusionary criteria is assessed to have a more positive impact than 
current policy (Table 2, AoS non-technical summary). However, the AoS report 
states that ‘exclusion of these areas could also reduce the scope of community 
engagement and unnecessarily exclude communities in those areas from the 
potential socio-economic benefits of hosting a GDF.’ (AoS non-technical 
summary, xix). The report also states (AoS report, 6.16) that such exclusionary 
criteria would ‘challenge the Government’s ability to ensure that a GDF is located 
within a geologically suitable environment.’ 

While we agree that suitable geology is critical to the acceptability of any GDF 
development, we do not believe that the exclusionary criteria used here would be 
detrimental to a successful siting process. Given the potential to locate the 
headworks a considerable distance from the underground repository, we feel that 

Page 101



the application of exclusionary criteria will not provide a sufficient barrier or 
impact significantly on the ability of interested communities to enter the process.

More fundamentally, we feel that the report is blurring the lines between the AoS, 
which should be an appraisal of the relative sustainability impacts of the different 
options, and the view of the Government. The AoS should set out an independent 
assessment of the impacts, and it is up to Government to accept or reject the 
conclusions in terms of the best option appraised, explaining their reasons for 
doing so. This report appears to be conflating these two aspects of the process.

5. Chapter 6 – Do you agree with the conclusions of the Appraisal of 
Sustainability Report? If not, please explain why.

We note that the Appraisal of Sustainability (AoS) argues that there ‘are no 
reasonable alternatives at a strategic level to meeting the need for geological 
disposal’ (4.4.3). 

We accept that the Appraisal of Sustainability (AoS) is of the draft National Policy 
Statement rather than of the GDF itself, that the NPS reflects agreed UK 
Government policy and that it is in line with the recommendations of CoRWM. 
However, it is the case that one of the UK’s devolved administrations, the 
Scottish Government, has endorsed an alternative approach based on near 
surface, near site disposal. While Allerdale is supportive of GDF development, we 
do question why the alternative approach in Scotland was not assessed as a 
‘reasonable alternative.’

6. Do you agree with the findings from the Habitats Regulations 
Assessment Report for the draft NPS? Please provide reasons to 
support your answer.

We note that in the Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) report, the 
Government has argued that there is an overriding public interest that means, in 
the context of a non-site specific NPS, it is impossible to fully rule out adverse 
effects on European conservation sites.

We accept that this is a technically valid position in terms of the HRA regulations. 
However, we believe that in reality there should be no need for a properly run 
GDF siting process to risk jeopardising European sites. 

We do not agree with 5.29 which argues that alternatives to current policy would 
‘(i) not provide any additional certainty that adverse effects on European sites 
could be avoided or reduced, compared to the current National Policy Statement; 
(ii) not be feasible; and (iii) compromise the ability to ensure the successful and 
timely delivery of the GDF in a geologically suitable environment (and hence not 
fulfil the Government’s policy objective on the disposal of higher activity 
radioactive waste).’ 

Within any potential host community there should be a significant degree of 
flexibility about the specific location of the headworks and related infrastructure 

Page 102



and that therefore there should be a strong commitment to avoid negative 
impacts on European conservation sites. 

The HRA is an independent appraisal of the NPS and reasonable alternatives in 
terms of the impact on habitats. It should be an assessment of the best possible 
approach that is then used to guide policy. It is clear to us that operating an NPS 
with exclusionary criteria would deliver better outcomes in terms of habitats and 
that it would not jeopardise the ability to locate a suitable site to an unacceptable 
degree. 

All documents

7. Do you have any other comments on the draft NPS and the 
accompanying documents (Appraisal of Sustainability, Habitats 
Regulations Assessment)?

The draft National Policy Statement does not provide any information on the 
scope for a waste packaging or encapsulation plant to be developed alongside a 
GDF. Indeed, paragraph 1.5.8 of the draft statement is clear that ‘The primary 
purpose of the surface facilities will be to receive waste packages from a port or 
the rail and road network and transfer them to the underground disposal 
facilities.’ 

Such a development would create additional employment, but communities may 
take differing views as to whether they would be interested in this additional 
facility, as it would increase the above ground footprint of the development. We 
feel that the NPS should provide more clarity on this issue. If such associated 
development might form part of the final surface facilities, then this should be 
considered by the AoS and the HRA.

I hope these comments are helpful.

Yours faithfully

Page 103



By email to: GDF-WWC@beis.gov.uk

Date:  19th April 2018

Dear Sir or Madam,

Implementing Geological Disposal: Working with communities – response to 
consultation by the UK and Northern Irish Governments

1. Introduction

Allerdale Borough Council is grateful for the opportunity to comment on this 
consultation and the related one on the draft National Policy Statement.  We were a 
key partner in the former Managing Radioactive Waste Safely (MRWS) process and 
have been working with other local authorities under the umbrella of NuLeAF since 
that last process came to an end.  We welcome the recognition in the 2014 White 
Paper that (a) the siting process has to be based on voluntarism; (b) that all tiers of 
local government have a significant role to play across the entire siting process; and 
(c) that the GDF will only proceed if a community gives their consent in a Test of 
Support late in the process.

We feel that both consultation documents fail to recognise the key role that West 
Cumbria has played, and continues to play, in relation to managing the UK’s nuclear 
legacy.  Much is made in the documents about the importance of identifying a host 
community for a GDF, but no mention is made of the role already being played by 
Copeland as the host for the Sellafield site and Allerdale as the neighbouring 
authority.  However this process moves forward, we are affected and yet, the focus 
is entirely on the GDF host community who will receive all of the benefits and any 
necessary infrastructure investment that is associated with the development.  While 
we understand Government’s desire to open up this process to as wide an area as 
possible, it is ridiculous to pretend that all areas are starting from the same position 
or that they are all equally affected.  It also seems to us to be a mistake to not try to 
gain the maximum benefit from the vast experience and knowledge that this 
community has from over 70 years of “hosting” the UK’s largest nuclear facility.      

2. General Comments

We welcome the recognition in the 2014 White Paper that (a) the siting process has 
to be based on voluntarism; (b) that all tiers of local government have a significant 
role to play across the entire siting process; and (c) that the GDF will only proceed if 
the community gives their consent in a Test of Support late in the process.

In addition to the responses we have provided on the consultation questions, we 
would offer the following general comments on these draft proposals for Working 
with Communities.

 Need for greater clarity

Page 104



The consultation lacks clarity in relation to a number of key aspects of the proposals. 
If not addressed this is likely to lead to issues and challenges in the local siting 
processes. 

There is a need to better define a number of terms (such as ‘Community’ or ‘Search 
Area’), to tighten up the language used and to remove ambiguities (for example in 
relation to the role of local government). 

The final proposals must also set out more clearly the socio-economic benefits and 
dis-benefits to any community of involvement. The previous MRWS process in West 
Cumbria failed for a variety of reasons. These included a lack of trust in the UK 
Government, and in particular H.M. Treasury, and their commitment to delivering the 
scale of investment initially promised. We are not convinced that the current process 
has fully taken on board the issues that led to the failure of the MRWS. It is 
imperative that the final proposals demonstrate that all lessons learned from the last 
siting process have been reflected on and addressed this time round.

 The role of local authorities
We note that within the Foreword for the Working with Communities consultation, the 
Minister states that ‘previous approaches were not able to secure and sustain the 
necessary level of local support’, and that to be successful this time there is a need 
to develop an ‘open and transparent site selection process that engages 
constructively with willing communities’. 

We agree with this. The engineering, technological and geological challenges in 
delivering a GDF are undoubtedly significant. However, we believe that the greatest 
challenges to a successful siting process relate to local politics, socio-economics and 
engagement. 

In particular, we believe that any successful siting process must recognise the 
important and unique role and expertise that local government has. Local authorities 
are democratically elected bodies at the heart of every community, with responsibility 
for and skills in community engagement, outreach, education and the support of 
community networks. They have expertise in economic development and 
regeneration, both directly and as key players within Local Enterprise Partnerships 
(LEPs). They have a long track record of managing community funds and resources 
and maximising the benefits of local spend. They also have responsibilities for land 
use planning, transportation, emergency planning and sustainable development.

To effectively deliver a GDF, the final approach to Working with Communities must 
therefore place local government and communities at its heart, ensuring that they are 
able to enter into and remain within the siting process over the decades it will take to 
identify a host site. Our comments on the specific consultations questions draw on 
this perspective.  

 Recognition of the current situation
The Government should more clearly recognise the current situation for HAW 
management. Higher Activity Wastes are currently stored or located at a number of 
sites across the UK, with by far the largest and most challenging inventory at 
Sellafield. Until a GDF is delivered, a number of communities will be adversely 

Page 105



impacted by these wastes, and delays and changes to the GDF siting process will be 
detrimental to them. They and other communities will also be affected by the 
transportation of wastes to a GDF. Their contribution, and the impacts on them, 
should be properly reflected in the final Working with Communities document.

3. Response to consultation questions

1. Do you agree with this approach of identifying communities? Do you 
have any other suggestions that we should consider?

The current consultation document lacks clarity in terms of defining what the 
‘community’ is within any local GDF siting process and determining the ‘Search 
Area’. We appreciate the need for some degree of flexibility and for local areas to 
have an element of freedom to define this for themselves but believe a clearer 
vision and context for any local decisions is required. The final Working with 
Communities text and/or associated guidance should give this clarity.

While we believe the ‘Search Area’ needs better definition, the proposed use of 
ward boundaries to form the edge of the Area is as good a place to start as any. 
While any method of defining boundaries is likely to cause a negative reaction 
from some on the periphery, either inside or outside. An area based on existing 
ward boundaries is less contentious than a boundary detached from existing 
political units, as this may be perceived as an arbitrary new line.

The definition of boundaries needs to be responsive to future reorganisation of 
local government. The structure of local authorities, their functions, and the area 
they cover, may alter significantly in coming decades, and Ward boundaries may 
also change. It is important that the Search Area or Potential Host Community, 
once agreed, remain constant throughout the process.

In terms of the Potential Host Community (PHC) we again agree that Ward 
boundaries are appropriate to use to define its edge and support the proposal 
(4.19) that the Community Partnership will be responsible for agreeing the PHC. 
However, we believe the suggested criteria for defining the PHC may lead to a 
Host Community being established that is too small, both geographically and in 
terms of the local population. 

Beyond those directly affected by the development impacts, there is a larger area 
containing those who will have an interest in any employment or socio-economic 
activities flowing from the GDF. It may also prove challenging at an early stage of 
the process to define clearly what the development impacts will be.

We believe that the suggested approach may exclude many people with a clear 
interest in the proposal and may also reduce the likelihood that the Host 
Community will consent to the development. A wider Host Community is required, 
based around Ward Boundaries that reflect not just the site specific and transport 
impacts but also socio-economic interests and environmental concerns.

Page 106



2. Do you agree with the approach of formative engagement? Do you 
support the use of a formative engagement team to carry out 
information gathering activities? Are there any other approaches we 
should consider?

We agree that anyone within an area should be able to commence discussion 
and seek information on geological disposal from the delivery body. We would 
however welcome more clarity (4.23) on the scope for Government Departments 
and agencies (e.g. Ministry of Defence, Forestry Commission, etc) to initiate 
discussions or propose consideration of some of their land as a potential site.

We support (4.24) the proposal that there is no requirement that any preliminary 
or exploratory discussions should be made public but believe that there is a need 
for openness and transparency as soon as a decision is taken to move towards 
formative engagement. We agree that the local authority (or authorities) should 
be involved in discussions at this stage if they have not been involved in the initial 
discussions. 

We also support the proposal (4.26) that communities must be involved during 
the formative engagement phase. We believe that the approach taken to this first 
engagement with the community is critical. Sections 4.28 and 4.29 propose the 
establishment of a formative engagement team by the delivery body to provide 
guidance on engagement and to build confidence in the plans for community 
engagement. We believe it is essential that:

(a) the developer works with experts (e.g. NuLeAF) and other parties with an 
expertise in local engagement processes to refine the broad approach 
proposed here before the siting process is launched. 

(b) full recognition is given by the developer, in formative engagement 
processes, to the expertise and knowledge that the local authorities within 
a Search Area have in communicating and engaging with local people.

We also note the suggested participants in the formative engagement team set 
out in Table 2. We support the proposal that local authorities be involved at this 
time if they wish. We feel it is important that the developer engages effectively 
with both the political leadership and the senior executive officers of local 
authorities and gives adequate time for discussion and consideration by all 
relevant parts of the council, including economic development, transportation, 
education, and environmental protection/enhancement. 

The developer must ensure that a decision by a local authority not to engage at 
this point is made in the light of a full understanding of what is proposed and its 
implications for the area they serve. 

We do not believe that it is necessary for the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) 
to be part of the formative engagement team.

Page 107



3. Do you agree with this approach to forming a Community Partnership? 
Are there other approaches we should consider?

We agree with the proposed size of the Community Partnership (around 12 
people) and the means by which the membership is agreed. The Partnership 
should involve the local authorities (if they wish) along with others representing 
different interests or sectors of the local population. We believe that both the 
District and County Councils (in two tier areas) should have representation on the 
Partnership if they so wish and welcome the statement made in 4.51. We also 
believe that it will be necessary to offer financial support to local authorities to 
enable them to participate in the Community Partnership. This should cover all 
their direct and indirect costs.

RWM (NDA) was not a full member of the previous MRWS Partnership in 
Cumbria and we believe it is important that Government explain clearly the 
reasons for RWM membership in the Partnership and define the role they will 
play.

While we believe it is important that Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) are 
kept informed of the work of the Community Partnership, and involved as 
appropriate, we do not believe it is necessary for the LEP to be a full member of 
the body.

The Government is right to recognise that the Partnership’s membership will 
evolve, given the long timeframe over which this process will operate. As such, it 
is important that the final framework for Working with Communities is worded so 
as to be adaptable to changes in local government structure, either within a 
specific area or due to national level reforms. We would expect that the 
geographic area covered by the Partnership would remain constant over the 
entire siting process, even if electoral boundaries alter.

Given that the requisite skills and perspectives needed by the Partnership may 
change over time, we also believe it may be beneficial for the Partnerships to 
have the ability to co-opt additional members on a fixed term basis.

4. Do you agree with the approach to engaging people more widely in the 
community through a Community Stakeholder Forum? Are there other 
approaches we should consider?

As the Community Partnership will involve only a limited number of people and 
organisations, making links to the wider community is essential. We support the 
proposals for a Community Stakeholder Forum and for ad-hoc working 
groups. The structure set out in Figure 4 is appropriate, but this is also an area 
that will evolve over the life of the project, so all parties should keep an open 
mind towards new methods of engagement and communication. 

As the consultation recognises, it is vital that throughout the process there are 
opportunities for local people to engage, raise concerns and have their questions 
answered. It is also important that those locally who oppose the plans for a GDF 
are given a voice and an opportunity to criticise and challenge. 

Page 108



In addition to the use of a formal Community Stakeholder Forum, there should be 
opportunities for effective engagement through social media and mainstream 
media, and outreach work with particular groups such as the young. Local further 
education colleges should also be involved, providing as they do a forum for 
engaging with young adults and a means of developing the skills that local people 
will need to access employment opportunities flowing from the GDF.

The current wording of 4.55 is vague on this issue and needs clarification and 
strengthening.

5. Do you agree with the proposal for a Community Agreement and what it 
could potentially include?

We agree with this proposal. The Community Partnership and the delivery body 
must be clear about what is expected of them, the ways in which progress can be 
monitored and assessed, and how disputes can be resolved. It is also important 
that the Agreement is flexible and able to respond to changing circumstances or 
issues that may arise.

It would be helpful if, before the launch of the siting process itself, the 
Government could provide example Community Agreements to enable local 
authorities and communities to understand their form and scope, and also 
comment on how they might be enhanced.

6. Do you agree with the proposed approach to the way community 
investment funding would be provided? Are there alternatives we 
should consider?

At present this section lacks clarity. There is a need to better explain how the 
separate and distinct aspects of the overall investment in any potential host 
community are managed and how they complement each other. 

There are 4 main elements to the proposed community investment in a potential 
host community:

 The direct economic benefits that will flow from the hundreds of jobs that 
will be required to construct and operate the GDF along with indirect 
economic benefits e.g. to the local supply chain, skills, or in terms of the 
impact of additional local spend on shops, hotels, etc.;

 The community investment funding of £1million and then £2.5million 
that every community entering the process will receive;

 The investment in mitigation measures that will be needed to reduce or 
eliminate negative socio-economic or environmental impacts; and

 The additional investment (4.62) that will flow to the successful host 
community or communities.

We would like to see a clearer explanation of how each element of community 
investment will be designed to maximise local benefit.

Page 109



In terms of direct economic benefit, the employment opportunities offered by 
GDF construction and employment should be available, wherever possible, to 
local people. The indirect benefits and spin offs should also be maximised.  
Government must provide clarity on whether business rates generated by the 
GDF will be retained locally. This is an important issue for local authorities but not 
one that has so far been addressed. More information on all direct and indirect 
benefits should be provided. 

It should also be recognised that the scale of employment and direct economic 
benefits from a GDF, while very welcome, will not have a ‘transformative effect’ 
(4.60) on most communities. What is therefore critical to generating interest in the 
GDF siting process and sustaining communities in it is the delivery of significant 
additional investment and other spin off benefits.

In terms of community investment funding it is stated that funding of ‘up to’ 
£1million or £2.5 million will be available (4.61). We feel that more explanation 
should be provided as to the circumstances in which the full amount (e.g. 
£1million per annum) would not be disbursed within a given year. One concern 
local authorities have is that, during the siting process, there may be years in 
which activity is limited. Government should clarify that this in itself will not lead to 
a reduction or withdrawal of community investment funding within a particular 
year. This should also be made clearer within 4.73.

The consultation also states that support should ‘aim to ensure that best use can 
be made of the additional funding’ (4.68) by focussing on ‘issues or themes that 
may increase the ability of local businesses and members of the community to 
benefit from a geological disposal facility development. (4.69). While we agree 
that, in the early years of the process, the community should be actively engaged 
in considering the potential use of the larger scale additional investment that will 
flow to the host community (see below) we do not agree that community 
investment funding should be used to support activities directly connected to the 
GDF development. Firstly, most of the communities entering the siting process 
will not be successful but should receive these benefits to spend on local projects 
as they see fit. Secondly, these statements seem to contradict the wider 
principles for the use of these funds set out in 4.66.

Most local authorities have direct experience of managing or overseeing local 
community funds and in applying proper ‘public value’ criteria. Based on this 
experience, we believe the aims and objectives of such funds; the means of 
operation and membership of the panel overseeing fund disbursement; the 
approach to raising awareness of the fund locally; and the audit and reporting 
processes have to be clear and effective. Failure to do so runs the risk that 
funding will not be taken up, will be poorly managed, or will be allocated to 
projects of dubious value. Poor operation of the community investment funding 
could affect the wider siting process.

In terms of mitigation measures, we would like to see more information 
provided about how negative environmental impacts will be minimised and 
compensated for. 

Page 110



We would also like to see clarity on how any potential negative economic impacts 
(for example on property prices or inward investment) will be addressed. In doing 
so it should be recognised that all communities entering a GDF siting process 
may suffer negative economic impacts, for example on house prices, even if the 
GDF does not ultimately proceed in an area. For example, a property owner near 
a possible GDF site may be unable to sell their property for many years based 
only on the suggestion that a GDF might be developed nearby. 

The consultation is weak on the scale of additional investment. The lack of 
clarity on this was one of the main reasons that the previous process came to an 
end.  Many communities and local authorities considering entering the current 
siting process will be particularly interested in the potential for such large-scale 
funding and its potential impact on their local economy, environment or 
infrastructure over the long term. The final framework should be much clearer on 
the scale of such funding, the process for engaging the community in helping 
shape their priorities for the use of such funds, and the types of projects for which 
investment would be provided. 

Given that the area of the Potential Host Community (PHC) may be limited, there 
should also be the potential for additional investment to be used to fund 
infrastructure projects that fall out-with the PHC. For example, improvements to a 
rail line may require investment over a larger area.

7. Do you agree with the proposed approach to the right to withdrawal? Do 
you have any views on how else this could be decided? Are there 
alternatives we should consider?

We agree with the proposed approach to the right of withdrawal. To minimise the 
risk that the community exercises its right of withdrawal, the developer will need 
to ensure it is responsive to the issues and concerns that inevitably arise and is 
also able to build relationships as the Community Partnership membership 
evolves over time. Of particular importance will be that changes in local 
government representation e.g. as a result of elections, are managed carefully.

8. Do you agree with the approach to the test of public support? Do you 
agree that the Community Partnership should decide how and when the 
test of public support should be carried out? Do you have views on how 
else this could be decided? Are there alternatives we should consider?

We agree that the Community Partnership should decide how and when the test 
of public support should be carried out.

The consultation states that ‘If at this stage the relevant principal local authority 
representatives, at county council, unitary authority and district council levels (as 
appropriate) no longer wish to support the process proceeding, then we 
recognise it is unlikely that the Community Partnership will be able to launch or 
demonstrate a test of public support.’ (4.86). This is a vague and ambiguous 
statement: it appears to assign councils neither a clear veto nor an advisory role 
in the decision on the Test of Public Support.

Page 111



We feel that this wording is likely to lead to confusion and may result in conflict 
between local authorities and other members of the Community Partnership. This 
wording must be changed.

We believe that Government must:
 Establish a clear position on this issue, so that there is no ambiguity on the 

role of local authorities in determining whether to proceed with the Test of 
Support;

 Recognise that, at every stage of the process right up to and including the 
Test of Support, local government must play a pivotal role, drawing on 
their expertise, democratic mandate, and community leadership role. 

9. Do you feel this process provides suitably defined roles for local 
authorities in the siting process? Are there alternatives we should 
consider?

We welcome the statement in Section 5 of the consultation that ‘principal local 
authorities…will need to play an integral role in any Community Partnership.’  
However, as noted in our response to Question 8, we have significant concerns 
about the currently defined role of local authorities in deciding on the Test of 
Support.

10.  Do you have any other views on the matters presented in this 
consultation?

The issue of monitoring and retrievability needs some clarity.  If retrievability is 
being ruled out, Government should provide more information on why this is not 
viewed as appropriate.  Similarly, more clarity would be helpful on the issue of 
inventory and the role of the host community, if any, in deciding the final inventory 
for a facility.

I hope these comments are helpful.

Yours faithfully

Page 112



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 18 April 2018

Extension of the Memorandum of Agreement (MoA), Solway Coast AONB 
Partnership

The Reason for the Decision To extend the current MoA to cover the 
years 2018/19 and 2019/20 to provide a 
framework for financial support and 
hosting of the AONB Partnership and 
staff team along with Cumbria County 
Council (CCC) and Carlisle City Council 
(CaCC)

Summary of options considered 1. To extend the current combined 
MoA with CCC and CaCC

2. To produce a separate MoA 
between Allerdale Borough 
Council (ABC) and the AONB 
Partnership

Recommendations 1. That the MoA is extended for a 
further two years to cover the 
financial years 2018-19 and 2019-
20, along with Cumbria County 
Council and Carlisle City Council

2. Delegate the drafting of the 
extension of the shared 
agreement between the three 
local authority partners to the 
AONB Manager, in consultation 
with the Corporate Director and 
the Head of Governance.

Financial /  Resource Implications Yes – see section 5 of report

Legal / Governance Implications Yes – see section 6 of report

Community Safety Implications No

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

Yes – that the staff work within ABC’s 
policies

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

Yes

Wards Affected Marsh, Wampool, Waver, Silloth, Holme, 
Solway, Ellen and Netherhall

Page 113

Agenda Item 8



The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

To conserve and enhance the Solway 
Coast AONB as statutory undertakers 
and to employ an AONB staff unit for 
these purposes

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Councillor William Jefferson

Lead Officer Naomi Hewitt, Solway Coast AONB 
Manager (016973 33055)

Report Implications

Community Safety N Financial Y
Legal Y Partnership Y
Social Inclusion N Asset Management Y
Equality Duty Y Health and Safety Y
Employment (internal) Y Employment 

(external to the Council)
N

Background Papers

Solway Coast AONB Partnership Memorandum of Agreement 2015-18

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The Solway Coast AONB Partnership has been supported by a Memorandum 
of Agreement (MoA) since its inception in 2002. The signatories to the MoA 
are the core funding partners within the AONB Partnership. 

1.2 Until fiscal year 2014 the MoA consisted of four signatories. These were 
DEFRA (on behalf of the Treasury), Cumbria County Council, Allerdale 
Borough Council and Carlisle City Council (on behalf of the Statutory 
Undertakers).

1.3 The most recent MoA covering the years 2015 -2018 (the subject of this 
report, see Annex 1) does not include DEFRA as a signatory. DEFRA 
withdrew from the MoA process because of the following reasons:

 They did not want to sign up to 41 separate MoA’s with 41 AONB’s

 They committed to give grant in aid to all of the AONB’s by way of an 
annual letter and forecast followed by government department financial 
allocations from the Treasury

Page 114



 The volatility and dynamic nature of public sector funding allocations 
will not allow them to confidently sign-off on three year agreements 
whether they are legally binding or not.

1.4 The most recent MoA (2015-2018) is a three year agreement and expired in 
March 2018. There is now a need to consider the agreement that should be 
put in place for the future.

1.5 Allerdale Borough Council is described in the MoA as the ‘host authority’ as 
they have been host to the partnership in all previous MoA’s since 2005. With 
this role comes extra responsibilities that are listed and described within the 
document.

2.0 Content (to include alternative options considered)

2.1 The most recent MoA (2015-2018) is a three year agreement, whereas the 
most recent Defra funding agreement continues until the end of 2019-20, a 
further two financial years.

2.2 The Council believes that keeping an agreed understanding across the three 
local authorities into the future provides some stability in relation to funding 
and consistency of approach. 

2.3 As Allerdale Borough Council is the employing (host) authority it is important 
for the MoA to be supported across the three councils.

2.4 There are two main options to take forward the agreed understanding:

 To extend the current MoA for a further two years to cover the financial 
years 2018-19 and 2019-20, along with Cumbria County Council and 
Carlisle City Council.

 To draw up a new funding agreement solely between Allerdale 
Borough Council and the AONB partnership 

2.5 The Solway Coast AONB Partnership considered a period without a written 
partnership agreement. After taking advice and guidance from the National 
Association of AONBs (NAAONB) it was decided to carry on with the MoA as 
the vehicle to reach an understanding across the ‘local core funding’ 
Partnership.

2.6 The MoA provides the framework on which the Solway Coast AONB is 
maintained and enhanced as a high value landscape of both local and 
national importance. It sets out the operation and management of the 
Partnership and staff team and the publishing, reviewing and monitoring of the 
Management Plan.

Page 115



2.7 The provision of the MoA should give both the AONB Partnership and 
Allerdale Borough Council understanding and confidence that they are 
providing a high quality service to the three statutory undertakers and that 
they are valued and are mandated to take things forward over the next two 
years.

3.0 Customer Satisfaction and Service

3.1 The document represents the 23rd year of a highly successful partnership that 
is well regarded and trusted by local people and within its peer group and 
National Association.

4.0 Services Delivered as Locally as Possible

4.1 The AONB services are delivered along the Allerdale coastline and on 
Allerdale land holdings within the same area.

5.0 Finance/Resource Implications

5.1 There are financial implications over the next two years. The MoA commits 
the Council to £30,373 and £30,895 for the financial years 2018-19 and 2019-
20, 16.55% of the total annual cost of running the AONB Partnership. 

5.2 This contribution is part of Allerdale Borough Council’s responsibility to 
exercise its duties in relation to the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000.

6.0 Legal Implications and Risks

6.1 The AONB Partnership acts on behalf of Allerdale Borough Council and is 
monitored by members on the Joint Advisory Committee. It is steered by an 
Officer Group currently chaired by an Allerdale Borough Council officer.

7.0 Recommendations

7.1 That the MoA is extended for a further two years to cover the financial years 
2018-19 and 2019-20, along with Cumbria County Council and Carlisle City 
Council.

7.2 Delegate the drafting of the extension of the shared agreement between the 
three local authority partners to the AONB Manager, in consultation with the 
Corporate Director and the Head of Governance. 

Naomi Hewitt
Solway Coast AONB Manager

Page 116



SOLWAY COAST AONB 
PARTNERSHIP

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT
2015 – 2018

                                     

Page 117



2

THIS MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT is made the   17th  day of September 2015 

BETWEEN 

 (1) Allerdale Borough Council, Allerdale House,  Workington, Cumbria, CA14 3YJ   

“Host Authority”).

(2)    Cumbria County Council, County Offices, Kendal, Cumbria, LA9 4RQ              

(3) Carlisle City Council,Civic Centre, Carlisle,   Cumbria, CA3 8QG               

  (“the Parties”)

IT IS AGREED  as follows:

WHEREAS

(A) This Agreement provides a framework for the delivery of duties and obligations arising 

from Part IV of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 including the operation and 

management of an AONB Partnership (“the Partnership”), a Staff Unit to act on behalf of 

the Partnership and the publishing, reviewing and monitoring of the Management Plan. 

(B) This Agreement also sets out a shared vision for and commitment to AONB management 

by all Parties to the Agreement.  It outlines the expectations on all Parties to achieve this 

vision, including a local reflection of the national tri-partite agreement between Defra, 

Natural England and the National Association for Areas for Outstanding Natural Beauty 

(“NAAONB”)

(C)  This Agreement is intended to bind partners to give medium term security to an AONB 

funding programme over a 3 year period.  

NOW IT IS AGREED as follows

Page 118



3

1. Definitions and Interpretation

1.1 In this Agreement the following words and expressions shall have the following meanings 

unless the context requires otherwise:

“AONB” means an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty

“the Partnership” means AONB Partnership comprising of the 

organisations listed in Schedule 1

“Funding Partners” means the following Local Authority Funding 

Partners namely [Allerdale Borough Council, 

Cumbria County Council & Carlisle City Council] 

“Non-Funding Partners” means the organisations listed in Schedule 3

“the Term” means the period of four years to include years  

2015/16, 2016/17, 2017/18

“Eligible Costs” means those costs listed in clause 8

“Management Plan” means the AONB Management Plan that the local 

authorities have a statutory duty under the 

Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 to produce 

and review in relation to any AONBs in their area

“Annual Business Plan” means the Partnership business plan which sets out 

the work to be undertaken in line with the 

Management Plan for the financial year(s) in 

question

                                 
“the Host Authority” means Allerdale Borough Council who is 

responsible for the Partnership’s finances and 

employment of the Staff Unit employees

Page 119



4

“the Parties” means any Party to this Agreement individually and 

“Parties” refers to all of the parties to this 

Agreement collectively.  A Party shall include all 

permitted assigns of the Party in question;

“Staff Unit” means the unit established by the 
Host Authority employing all and any staff engaged 

in the work of the Partnership.

“Officer Steering Group” means the group made up of officer representatives 

of the Funding Partners which advises the AONB 

Manager  

1.2 In this Agreement where the context requires:

1.2.1 the masculine gender includes the feminine and the neuter and the singular includes the 

plural and vice versa;

1.2.2 references to any statute, enactment, order, regulation or other legislative instrument 

include any amendment to the same by any subsequent statute, enactment, order, 

regulation or instrument or as contained in any subsequent re-enactment thereof;

1.2.3 a reference to a person shall include a reference to any individual, company,  or other 

legal entity;

1.2.4 references to clauses and Schedules are, unless otherwise stated, references to clauses 

in and Schedules to this Agreement;

1.2.5 headings are provided for ease of reference only and shall not be taken into account in 

the interpretation or construction of this Agreement.

1.3 Subject to clause 1.4 the Schedules form an integral part of this Agreement.

1.4 In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and the provisions 

in the Schedules the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail and for the purposes of 

this clause 1.4 only the term “Agreement” shall not include the Schedules.

Page 120



5

2. Shared Vision
Working together to ensure that the natural beauty of AONBs is conserved, enhanced 

and promoted for the benefit of all; valuing the contribution of each AONB and the 

network as a whole to the protection of our finest landscapes; supporting local action and 

national collaboration; recognising and meeting the challenges for the future.  AONBs are 

seen as functioning landscapes and exemplars of coherent and resilient ecological 

networks which can deliver wider benefits for society.

2.1 The Parties to this Agreement believe that:  

2.1.1 AONB management structures should be strongly supported by partners and relevant 

authorities.1 

2.1.2  the statutory requirement to produce Management Plans provides an important 

opportunity to strengthen partnerships and achieve better outcomes.

2.1.3 security of funding and flexibility of funding for AONBs will deliver better outcomes.

2.1.4 there should be a “can do” culture which is not risk-averse but where lessons from novel 

approaches are encouraged and learnt from, in both success and failure.

2.1.5 monitoring of environmental outcomes is essential and needs to be undertaken to 

develop a sound, spatially-relevant evidence base.

2.1.6 opportunities should be taken to maximise the synergies between the outcomes of the 

Management Plan with the plans of other Parties, and of the wider Protected Landscape 

network. 

3. Duration
This Agreement will run for the Term unless terminated earlier in accordance with the provisions 

of clause 11 or alternatively at the end of the Term the Agreement may be extended for a further 

Term with the written agreement of the Parties.

4. Partnership Roles, Responsibilities and Structure
4.1 The Partnership 
4.1.1 The Partnership was formed on 20.05.2002                       

1 As defined by S85 of CROW Act - relevant authority includes government departments, Natural England included, and public 
sector as well as statutory undertakers

Page 121



6

4.1.2 The Partnership membership, terms of reference, structure and operation is set out in 

Schedule 1.

4.2 The Staff Unit 
4.2.1 The purpose and objectives of the Partnership will be assisted by the employment of a 

Staff Unit to act on its behalf.  Part 1 of Schedule 2 shows Core Staff and non-Core staff.   

The Staff Unit will coordinate, champion, act as a focus and bring bodies together for 

action, and bid for funds.  The Staff Unit will carry out the core functions set out in part 2 

of Schedule 2.

4.2.2 The Staff Unit will work for the whole Partnership and have its own identity.  Activities will 

be delivered under the identity of the Partnership, rather than that of the Host Authority or 

individual Parties.

4.2.3 A degree of independence for the Partnership from the Host Authority will be necessary, 

particularly when the Partnership is consulted by or is required to make comments and 

provide advice on schemes and activities of its constituent Local Authorities.

4.3 The Host Authority
The Host Authority will be responsible for exercising its duties in relation to the Countryside and 

Rights of Way Act 2000, and for line managing the AONB Manager, acting as employer of the 

staff employed as part of the Staff Unit, providing human resources and IT support and 

exercising responsibility for the financial management of the Partnership in accordance with 

clause 8.

4.4 Local Authority Funding Partners
The Local Authority Funding Partners will be responsible for exercising their duties in relation to 

the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, and for:

4.4.1 contributing to the costs of the Partnership in accordance with clause 10.  

4.4.2 working with the Host Authority, Defra and Natural England in relation to the 

management of the AONB.

4.4.3 providing a recognised lead officer and contact who will be involved in the management 

of the Staff Unit, the Management Plan process and Partnership activity; and

4.4.4 working with local government members to promote the role and value of AONBs to 

society and our natural environment.

Page 122



7

4.5 Non-Funding Partners
The Non-Funding Partners will be requested to assist the Host Authority, Defra, Natural England 

and the Funding Partners in managing the AONB by providing advice and guidance in their 

specific areas of expertise and contribute to the delivery of the Management Plan. 

4.6 Defra
Though not party to this MoA the Parties understand that it is the intention of Defra to remain 

responsible for exercising its duties in relation to the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 

and for:

4.6.1 contributing to the costs of the Partnership in accordance with clause 9; 

4.6.2 working to the principles set out in the tri-partite Memorandum of Understanding between 

Defra, Natural England and the NAAONB, a copy of which is annexed to this Agreement

4.6.3 supporting the work of the Partnership

4.6.4 working across Government and with national organisations to promote the role and 

value of AONBs to society and our natural environment.

5. Employment of a Staff Unit
5.1 An AONB Staff Unit will be established by the Host Authority.  Details of the Staff Unit are 

more particularly described in part 1 of Schedule 2. 

5.2. AONB Manager
5.2.1 An AONB Manager will be employed at a senior level to act as a respected advocate for, 

and champion of the AONB.  The AONB Manager will be given authority to work with key 

partners at a senior level, for example Chief Executives, lead Planning Officers, key 

committees and Local Authority members 

5.2.2 The line management of the AONB Manager for day to day purposes will be through the 

Host Authority.

5.3 Other AONB Staff 
5.3.1 Other AONB staff, forming part of the Staff Unit, will be employed on behalf of the 

Partnership to take forward the Annual Business Plan and Management Plan. 

5.3.2 AONB staff will report to the AONB Manager and will work to a programme agreed by the 

Partnership against which progress will be monitored.

Page 123



8

6. Redundancy
6.1 Supported by the Host Authority, the AONB Partnership and its Executive Group will 

provide advice with regards to the management of financial risks and responsibilities. 

6.2  Any redundancy payments legally due to any AONB Staff under Part XI of the 

Employment Rights Act 1996 or other relevant legislation on termination of employment 

will be met by the Parties, including from budgets already held by the host authority on 

behalf of the Partnership. 

6.3  In the case of redundancy, costs will be reasonably attributed following the advice of the 

Host Authority, Partnership and Executive Group, with any third party contributions being 

maximised wherever possible.

6.4  For the avoidance of doubt, where there is a withdrawal or a sufficiently large reduction in 

funding,  or when a contract or funding source expires, resulting in redundancy becoming 

unavoidable and leading to the payment of redundancy costs, the costs will be eligible 

from this contribution and the Local Authorities’ contributions and from any third party 

contributors to work in pursuit of the AONB Management Plan that has entailed the 

employment of staff. 

6.5 Each party’s liabilities in respect of redundancy costs shall be limited to an overall cap 

which will be no more than their total contribution monies paid to the Host Authority in the 

previous grant year.

7. Financial and Administrative arrangements.

7.1 The income and expenditure of the Partnership will be met in the first instance by the 

Host Authority which will be responsible for the exercise of proper financial control and 

for collecting contributions from Defra and the Local Authority Funding Partners as 

detailed in clauses 9 and 10.   

Page 124



9

7.2 The details of the budget will be agreed annually by the Partnership’s Funding Partners 

and an appropriate grant application submitted to Defra.  

7.3 The Host Authority will be responsible for submitting the annual AONB financial 

contribution application to Defra in accordance with any guidance issued by Defra by 31st 

December in any year.

7.4 Defra’s contribution shall be paid in arrears to the Host Authority on receipt of an agreed 

claim and in accordance with guidance issued by Defra.

7.5 The Local Authority Funding Partners will:

7.5.1    make annual contributions  in accordance with the provisions of clause 10 

7.5.2 commit to providing 4 year funding as set out in clause 10.

7.6 Defra will:

7.6.1 make annual financial contributions to support the work of the Partnership to be made in 

line with the single pot contribution set out in clause 9

7.6.2 commit to providing 3 year funding as set out in clause 9.

8. Eligible Costs for core functions

8.1 Eligible Costs shall include:

i) staff salaries, employers’ national insurance, superannuation contributions and 

payments in respect of absence through sickness in accordance with Host 

Authority conditions of service;

ii) accommodation (office rents and rates), IT, office equipment, insurance, health 

and safety;

iii) office support services to include but not limited to financial and legal support, IT 

support and property services;

iv) pay awards and inflationary increases;

v) maternity pay;

vi) training;

vii) travel and subsistence expenses;

Page 125



10

(viii) any redundancy payment due to a post holder employed by the Host Authority 

exclusively for the purposes of the Partnership and where the post holder's 

entitlement to the said payment arises in circumstances envisaged in clause 6;

(ix) a partnership budget to be used for external costs, for example, for specialist 

advice, research, public relations, publications, events;

(x) costs of establishing and running the AONB partnership; 

(xi) costs associated with the production of the Management Plan; 

(xii) advertising for vacant posts and travel and subsistence costs incurred by interview 

candidates and other recruitment costs;

(xiii) other project and activities necessary to deliver the core functions listed in part 2 

of Schedule 2   

9.  Defra Funding
9.1 Though Defra is not party to this MoA it is understood by the Parties that Defra will 

continue to make a contribution to the Partnership and that the 2015-16 level has 

already been set at the same level as that in 2014-15.  This contribution is made under 

section 98 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

9.2 This contribution is made with the expectation that the Funding Partners will continue to 

provide financial contributions which give medium term security, matching Defra’s 

commitment to an AONB funding programme.

9.3 This contribution comes as a single sum to be allocated by the Partnership following Staff 

Unit recommendations towards Eligible Costs listed in clause 8.1, and project 

activity to achieve the outcomes set out in the Management Plan and the Annual 

Business Plan.     

10 The Local Authority Funding Partners’ Funding
10.1 The Local Authority Funding Partners will contribute to the Eligible Costs as set in the 

table below: 

Organisation FY 2015/16 FY 2016/17 FY 2017/18

The Host Authority £29000* £29000* £29000*

Cumbria County Council £11470 £11470 £11470

Page 126



11

Carlisle City Council £3352 £3352 £3352

10.2 The contribution will be paid to the Host Authority by the 1st May in each year.

11 Termination
11.1 Without prejudice to the obligations of the other Parties to each other under this 

Agreement, which unless otherwise agreed continue, a Party may, by giving not less than 

one year’s written notice, terminate its participation in this Agreement  setting out the 

reasons for termination. A review of the viability of the continuation of the Partnership will 

be carried out by the remaining Parties.

11.2 If a Party withdraws from the Agreement in accordance with clause 11.1 the remaining 

Parties will not be required to take on the responsibility or financial liability of the 

withdrawing Party. However should the remaining Parties choose to increase their 

contribution, financial or otherwise, then this will be reflected in an addendum to the 

Agreement, signed by all the remaining Parties. 

For the avoidance of doubt, the withdrawing Party will not be entitled to a return of any 

contribution made in accordance with clause 9 or 10 for the financial year in which they 

serve notice of their withdrawal.

11.3 The Funding Partners will pay contributions in respect of inescapable contractual 

commitments (apart from redundancy payments that are subject to clause 6 above) 

entered into in good faith prior to any party giving notice of termination whether or not 

such commitments involve expenditure after the date of termination. However, for the 

avoidance of doubt, the said contractual commitments shall not include contract(s) of 

employment or an agreement(s) to retain the services of a worker or consultant in 

relation to the Partnership.

Page 127



12

11.4 On termination of the Agreement, a statement shall be drawn up of the remaining funds 

held by the Host Authority pursuant to this Agreement, together with any outstanding 

liability and once such statement has been agreed between the Parties, the Host 

Authority shall reimburse the remaining monies to the contributing Parties, pro rata to 

their initial contributions.

12. Communication
12.1 For the purposes of this Agreement the following are lead contacts for each of the Parties 

contactable at the address given:

12.1.2 Allerdale Borough Council     Andrew Seekings

12.1.3 Cumbria County Council         Richard Pearse

12.1.4 Carlisle City Council                   Jillian Hale       

13. Jurisdiction
13.1 All disputes or claims arising out of or in connection with the activities of the parties under 

this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of 

England.

14. Reconciliation of Disagreement
14.1 Any disagreements will normally be resolved amicably at working level.  In the event of 

failure to reach consensus between the Parties then such failure shall be handled in the 

following manner:

14.1.1 The dispute shall in the first instance be referred to the relevant Parties’ Project 

Executive officer or manager in the organisation of similar standing for resolution at a 

meeting to be arranged as soon as practicable after the failure to reach consensus 

arises, but in any event within ten business days;

14.2 If the dispute cannot be resolved in accordance with 14.1.1 above within ten business 

days after such referral, or within any other period agreed between the Parties then the 

dispute shall be referred to the relevant Parties’ Legal Advisors for resolution at a 

meeting to be arranged as soon as practicable after such referral, but in any event within 

ten business days;

14.3 If the dispute has not been resolved following a referral in accordance with 14.1.2 the 

Parties shall settle the dispute by mediation in accordance with the Centre for Dispute 

Page 128



13

Resolution (CEDR) Model Mediation Procedure.  Unless otherwise agreed between the 

Parties, the mediator will be nominated by CEDR.

15. Information
15.1 The Parties are subject to the requirements of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 

(”FOIA”) and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (“EIR”) and they shall 

assist and co-operate with the other Parties as necessary to comply with these 

requirements.

15.2 In responding to a request for information, including information in connection with the 

Partnership, a Party will use reasonable endeavours to consult with the other Parties.  

Notwithstanding this the Parties acknowledge that they may be required to disclose 

information without consultation, or following consultation with the Parties having taken 

their views into account.

15.3 The Parties shall ensure that all information produced in the course of the Partnership or 

relating to the Agreement is retained for disclosure and shall provide all necessary 

assistance as reasonably requested to enable a Party to respond to a request for 

information within the time for compliance and shall permit the Parties to inspect such 

records as requested from time to time

15.4 All Parties acknowledge that any statutory and other constraints on the exchange of 

information will be fully respected, including the requirements of the Data Protection Act 

1998 and the Human Rights Act 1998.

16. Variation and Waiver
16.1 Any variation of this Agreement shall be in writing and signed by or on behalf of each of 

the Parties.

16.2 No delay by any Party in exercising any provision of this Agreement constitutes a waiver 

of such provision or shall prevent any future exercise in whole or in part.

17. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999
17.1 The Parties do not intend that any term of this Agreement shall be enforceable by virtue 

of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 by any person that is not a party to it.

Page 129



14

HOST AUTHORITY  Allerdale Borough Council

Date ................................………………………….

Position ............................................................................. 

Signed .............................................................................on behalf of

Cumbria County Council

Date ................................…………………………

Position ............................................................................. 

Signed .............................................................................on behalf of

Carlisle City Council

Date ................................………………………….

Position ............................................................................. 

Signed ……………………………………………………..

Page 130



15

SCHEDULE 1
PARTNERSHIP MEMBERSHIP, TERMS OF REFERENCE, STRUCTURE AND 

OPERATION
A) The AONB Partnership: 

The partnership /JAC was formed on 20.05 2002 .

The Solway Coast AONB Partnership comprises the following:

Funding partnership
The partnership has four core funders; they are DEFRA, Allerdale Borough Council, Cumbria 
County Council and Carlisle city Council. DEFRA provides funds from central government  with 
local authorities providing funds to deliver their statutory role to conserve and enhance the 
AONB.

Core Staff Unit
The staff unit comprises a full time AONB Manager, a part time (4/5) Assistant AONB Manager, 
a full time Volunteer Coordinator and a part time (4/5) Administrator.

Officer Steering Group (OSG)
The Officer Steering Group provides technical support to the staff unit and comprises senior 
officers from Natural England, Allerdale Borough Council, Cumbria County Council, Carlisle City 
Council, Environment Agency and the Solway Firth Partnership. Representatives from other 
organisations are invited to give advice and support related to their own specialisations as and 
when required.

Joint Advisory Committee (JAC)
The JAC comprises both Local Authority and Parish Council elected members and officer and 
voluntary support from a range of organisations, they are as follows:

Statutory Bodies (2)
Natural England
Environment Agency
Local Government Elected Members (5)
Cumbria County Council (2)
Allerdale Borough Council (2)
Carlisle City Council (1)

Parish Council Representation Groups(4) 
West One Oughterside & Allerby
West Two Allonby
East One Bowness on Solway
East Two Burgh by Sands

Page 131



16

Town Council Representation (2)
Silloth
Maryport
Community (4)
Port Carlisle Community Group
Ramblers Association
ACT (Action with Communities in Cumbria)
Bowness on Solway Community Group
Local Land Ownership and Management Issues (4)
Country Land and Business Association
Friends of the Lake District
Senhouse Roman Museum
Royal Society for the Protection of Birds
Tourism & Community Sector (2)
Cumbria Tourism
Solway Coast Community Volunteer Group

B) Other Structures

The Partnership initiated a further structure in 2007 to act in an advisory role in response to 
AONB’s nationally being given the opportunity to deliver their own Sustainable Development 
Fund (SDF). The fund, from defra, is delivered at local level by the AONB Unit and is 
administered financially by the ‘host authority’. Decisions are made, based on agreed criteria 
surrounding sustainable development, by the group. The group comprises representation from 
the following organisations:

Country Landowners and Business Association, Environment Agency, Carlisle City Council, 
Solway Coast AONB Volunteer Group, ACTand Friends of the Lake District.

C) AONB core staff unit 
The purpose and objectives of the AONB partnership will be assisted by employment of a Staff 
Unit to act on its behalf. The Staff Unit will coordinate, champion, act as a focus and bring bodies 
together for action, and bid for funds. The staff unit will carry out the core functions set out in 
Annex 2. 

The Staff Unit will work for the whole partnership and have its own identity. Activities will be 
delivered under the identity of the AONB Partnership, rather than that of the host authority or 
individual partners.   

A degree of independence for the Partnership will be necessary, as there will be occasions when 
the AONB Partnership needs to be consulted by, or make comments / provide advice on 
schemes or activities of its constituent local authorities

4.    Employment of Staff

Page 132



17

An AONB Manager will be employed at a senior level to be able to act as a respected advocate 
for, and champion of, the AONB. S/he will be given authority to work with key partners at a 
senior level, for example Chief Executives, Regional Directors, lead Planning Officers, key 
committees & Local Authority members. This Officer will not be shared with other AONBs as a 
shared lead AONB Manager / AONB officer. S/he will not work outside the AONB, except in 
support of AONB objectives.

Natural England will be involved in the recruitment of the AONB Manager, including the job 
specification and terms and conditions, and will be represented on the interview panel.  

Other staff will be employed on behalf of the partnership. By agreement, these staff may also 
work with, or across other AONB partnerships if this makes best use of skills, resources and 
economies of scale. Such staff will not normally work outside an AONB except in support of 
AONB objectives. Job descriptions for AONB staff will be agreed by the partnership.

Staff will be employed by Allerdale Borough Council, the “host authority”, who will be responsible 
for recruitment, employment services and accommodation.  

Line management of the AONB manager for day to day purposes will be through the host 
authority. Other AONB staff will report to the AONB Manager. The staff team will work to a work 
programme agreed by the partnership/JAC.  Progress will be monitored against the work 
programme.

SCHEDULE 2
PART 1 - STAFF UNIT STRUCTURE

CORE STAFF
Staff Unit
The staff unit comprises a full time AONB Manager, a part time (4/5) Assistant AONB Manager, 
a full time Volunteer Coordinator and a part time (4/5) Administrator.

NON-CORE STAFF

Page 133



18

Should the AONB Partnership and the Host Authority agree that project staff (non-core) 
should be employed by the AONB Partnership through the Host Authority this should be 
accommodated.

PART 2 - STAFF UNIT CORE FUNCTIONS

1. MANAGEMENT PLAN 
1.1 Developing reviewing, preparing and publishing the AONB vision and the 

Management Plan

1.2  Promoting the AONB vision and Management Plan to help distinguish the AONB 

from adjacent countryside

1.3 Advising upon, facilitating and co-ordinating implementation by others of the 

Management Plan

1.4 Accessing resources for management activities

1.5 Developing an involvement by the community in the management of the AONB

1.6 Providing a management role to co-ordinate AONB protection through the actions 

of the AONB unit, the AONB Partnership and other partners at a local and 

strategic level 

1.7 Problem solving with the unit acting as co-ordinator and facilitators

2. ADVISORY / ADVOCACY
2.1 Advising Local Authorities and other partners on their activities within AONBs, to 

encourage them to attain the highest possible standards in  AONBs

2.2 Working with and contributing to the NAAONB activities, sharing advice and best 

practice nationally and regionally.

2.3 Providing landscape related planning advice (to local planning authorities and in 

conjunction with Natural England as appropriate in line with, and underpinned by 

protocols)

2.4 Financial support for NAAONB

2.5 Contribution and support to activity between AONBs and protected landscapes to 

strengthen the status of the AONBs individually and collectively.

3. MONITORING

Page 134



19

3.1 To monitor and report on progress against Management Plans and Annual 

Business Plans to the Partnership.

3.2 To provide monitoring and reporting information to Defra in accordance with any 

guidance issued by Defra

SCHEDULE 3
NON-FUNDING PARTNERS

Parish Council Representation Groups(4) 
West One Oughterside & Allerby
West Two Allonby
East One Bowness on Solway
East Two Burgh by Sands
Town Council Representation (2)
Silloth
Maryport
Community (4)
Port Carlisle Community Group
Ramblers Association
ACT (Action with Communities in Cumbria)
Bowness on Solway Community Group
Local Land Ownership and Management Issues (4)
Country Land and Business Association
Friends of the Lake District
Senhouse Roman Museum
Royal Society for the Protection of Birds
Tourism & Community Sector (2)
Cumbria Tourism
Solway Coast AONB Volunteer Group

Page 135



20

ANNEX 1
TRI-PARTITE MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN DEFRA, NATURAL  

ENGLAND  AND THE NATIONAL ASSOCIATION FOR AONBS

Working together for Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty: 
A memorandum of understanding between Defra, Natural England and the 
National Association for AONBs (NAAONB) 

Purpose:  To outline the contributions of Defra, Natural England and the NAAONB to 
achieving a shared vision for the AONB family in England; to delivering effective, efficient 
and responsive sponsorship of the individual AONB Partnerships and the relevant local 
authorities in delivering agreed environmental outcomes through both local decision-
making and action.  It confirms the commitment of each of the parties to supporting the 
vital work of AONB Partnerships. It sets out a vision of greater independence, security 
and clarity of priorities and represents a new stage in the relationship between Defra, 
Natural England, the NAAONB and AONB Partnerships.
Vision:  Working together to ensure that the natural beauty of AONBs is conserved, 
enhanced and promoted for the benefit of all; valuing the contribution of each AONB and 
the network as a whole to the protection of our finest landscapes; supporting local action 
and national collaboration; recognising and meeting the challenges of the future. AONBs 
are seen as functioning landscapes and exemplars of coherent and resilient ecological 
networks which can deliver wider benefits for society
General Principles of 3-way working:  In working to meet the vision and deliver 
agreed priorities, Defra, Natural England and the NAAONB will recognise and respect 
the independence and interdependencies of each party, making best use of each party’s 
role and expertise. Openness in communication so that there are no surprises will 
underpin a relationship based on mutual trust. In the interests of clarity, accountability 
and avoiding duplication of effort the key roles of each of the parties are identified, 
recognising that this is a new and developing relationship. This memorandum will be 
reviewed annually.  

 Planned activities must be proportionate to the resources available to each party.
 Openness and accountability between parties. 
 Knowledge and information will be actively shared.
 Value for money considerations must run through all project board arrangements 

and decisions.

Page 136



21

What Defra will do
 Provide grant funding in a timely manner to the host authorities for each AONB 

Partnership, the Conservation Boards, the NAAONB and to the SE & SW Protected 
Landscape Forum officers, to achieve agreed business plans and subject to 
matched funding from other partners. Hold grant recipients accountable for the 
resources provided by the Government. 

 Work with and support ministers on policy, grant funding and issues affecting 
AONBs.

 Act as advocate for AONBs within Defra and more widely across government. 

 Maintain an oversight of the current and likely future progress of Partnership 
delivery of Management Plans and of the strategic direction for AONBs

 Provide guidance on content and implementation of government policy for AONBs.

 Lead on a review of the funding formula and grant negotiations (including the issue 
of liabilities for redundancies), implementing agreed changes in a way that ensures 
successful delivery of outcomes, supports innovation and provides value for money.

 Lead on development of a vision and strategic framework for the Protected 
Landscapes family.

What Natural England will do:

 Provide technical information and expertise on matters relating to AONBs 
concerning their statutory powers and duties as well as guidance arising out of local 
relationships with Partnerships and the Conservation Boards.   

 Continue to provide individual AONBs and the NAAONB with support and expert 
advice on the natural environment. 

 Fulfil statutory powers and duties in relation to AONBs.  

 Provide advice to AONBs on management plans and business plans and be key 
partners within those plans.

 Advise government, Defra, OGDs  and other key stakeholders on matters relevant 
to landscape, biodiversity and the natural environment which affect AONBs and 
protected landscapes generally.

Page 137



22

 Advise Defra on development of a vision and strategic framework for AONBs and 
the wider protected landscape family.

 Act as an advocate for AONBs with local, national and international partners.

 Lead on the development of proposals for strategic environmental outcome 
monitoring and reporting for protected landscapes

What NAAONB will do: 
 Co-ordinate and represent the views of AONB Partnerships. 

 Disseminate information, advice and guidance to AONB Partnerships

 Work with Defra and Natural England on developing a vision and strategic 
framework for AONBs

 Work with government and others to strengthen public policy and practice in pursuit 
of the AONB purpose.

 Encourage innovation amongst AONB Partnerships. 

 Support the identification, collation and sharing of best practice among AONB 
Partnerships, and more widely in the protected landscape network. 

 Seek, and share, experience and expertise from overseas from other IUCN 
Category V protected landscapes.

 Help facilitate closer working between AONB Partnerships and National Park 
Authorities.

 Encourage delivery of shared objectives, best practice.
 Lead on development of capacity building for fund raising among AONB 

Partnerships.

Benefits for AONB Partnerships will be:

 Closer relationship with Defra with increased opportunities to input to policy 

development affecting AONBs.

 Greater Ministerial engagement with AONB Partnerships.

 Better join-up with other protected landscapes.

 Increased local ‘ownership’ of delivery of AONB purpose.

Page 138



23

 Multi-year funding aligned to Spending Review period

 Defra provision of additional influence to maintain/secure local authority input and 

support

Measures of success:

 Transition to new sponsorship arrangements is implemented smoothly with minimal 
disruption to AONB Partnership functioning, including: 
 3-4 year indicative allocations and single pot funding approach continued;
 Grant payments are made to schedule (from April 2011);  
 AONB Partnerships, local authorities and funding partners are clear about where 

responsibilities lie (by April 2011);  and
 The new relationship is bedded in and working effectively across Defra, Natural 

England and the NAAONB (by April 2011).

 Existing sponsorship arrangements are reviewed and any new arrangements are 
implemented in a way which maximises value for money and the efficiency and 
effectiveness of sponsorship delivery, including: 
 AONB grant funding formula is reviewed in consultation with Partnerships. Any 

changes agreed (by April 2013) and successfully implemented (by April 2014);
 Sponsorship models reviewed including scope for possible synergies with 

sponsorship of National Park Authorities explored. Any changes agreed (by April 
2013) and successfully implemented (by April 2014). 

 
 There is a clear understanding of government strategic aims for AONBs and the 

collective effectiveness of AONB Partnerships as a national network, providing 
improved outcomes including:
 Environmental outcome monitoring, linked to management plan objectives, 

developed and adopted as a measure of environmental change within AONBs (by 
April 2013);

 AONB Partnerships continue to work together as a coherent collective where a 
national collaborative approach to delivering their purpose is appropriate. 
Examples of good practice shared and joint projects developed, including with 
National Park Authorities where relevant.

 AONB Partnerships’ capacity to deliver their purpose(s) further developed (by April 
2014), including:
 AONBs are more independent in deciding how to achieve the objectives of their 

management plans;

Page 139



24

 AONB communities are increasingly empowered and engaged in locally relevant 
decisions and action;

 AONBs capacity for levering in new sources of funding encouraged and 
supported. Examples of good practice shared.

Background
14% of England is designated as Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs). The 
purpose of designation is to conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the area. Of 
equivalent status to National Parks for their outstanding landscape qualities, AONBs 
bring great benefits to the nation, from conserving and enhancing the landscape and 
biodiversity and providing opportunities for public enjoyment, to supporting the rural 
economy and delivering environmental goods and services.

34 separate AONBs have been designated, each with their own governance and 
management structures, tailored to local circumstances. The majority of AONBs are 
managed as AONB Partnerships within a local government context. Two (Chilterns and 
Cotswolds) are managed through Conservation Boards established as independent 
organisations. The Boards have two purposes: to conserve and enhance the natural 
beauty of the area, and to increase the understanding and enjoyment of the AONB. They 
also have a duty to seek to foster the economic and social well-being of the local 
communities within the AONB.  There are a few other variations in AONB governance 
and purposes. 

Defra is the principal funder of AONB Partnerships and Conservation Boards in England.  
Natural England is a key statutory adviser in AONB Partnerships and Conservation 
Boards in England. The National Association for AONBs  is an independent organisation 
that represents the interests of all AONBs. 

Explanation of Terms Used 
 AONB  means an area designated as an  Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

 AONB Partnership includes any management Partnership, Conservation Board, 
Joint Advisory Committee or Joint Committee

 New sponsorship arrangements  from 1 April 2011 responsibility for funding and 
strategic oversight of AONBs and of the NAAONB will pass from Natural England to 
Defra.  Natural England will continue to provide technical support and advice to 
AONBs at the local level. As part of the new arrangements Defra has said it will 
review the formula currently used by Natural England to set grant offers

 Management Plan means the AONB management plan that the Conservation 
Board or relevant local authority has a statutory duty under S89 of the CROW Act to 
produce and review in relation to any AONBs in their area

Page 140



25

 Annual Business Plan  means the AONB business plan which sets out the work to 
be undertaken in line with the Management Plan for the financial year(s) in question

Signed on behalf of  Defra

Tanya Arkle
Deputy Director  Landscape and Outdoor Recreation Programme

Signed on behalf of Natural England

Chief Executive

Signed on behalf  of  NAAONB

Chairman

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 142


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy
	Appendix 1 Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2018
	Appendix 2 Private Sector Housing Civil Penalty Policy 2018
	Appendix 3 Summary of Consultation Responses

	7 Response to BEIS consultations on a geological disposal facility
	8 Extension of Memorandum of Agreement, Solway Coast AONB Partnership
	MoA 2015


